
 

PUBLIC PROTECTION
 COMMITTEE

Monday, August 12, 2013
11:00 AM

651 Pine Street, Room 101, Martinez CA 94553 

 
Supervisor John Gioia, Chair 

Supervisor Federal D. Glover, Vice Chair 
 

Agenda Items: Items may be taken out of order based on the business of the day  
and preference of the Committee 

 
 
 

1. Call to Order 
  

2. Public comment on any item under the jurisdiction of the Committee and not on this agenda 
(speakers may be limited to three minutes). 

  
3. CONSIDER approving a draft Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for AB 109 Data Evaluation 

Services for release. (Lara DeLaney, Senior Deputy County Administrator) (Page 3) 
 

4. CONSIDER approving a proposal to implement an AB109 Pre-Trial program for fiscal year 
2013/14 and forward to the Board of Supervisors for final approval, as recommended by the 
Community Corrections Partnership-Executive Committee. (Phil Kader, County Probation 
Officer) (Page 55) 

  
5. CONSIDER accepting an oral report from the Sheriff’s Office on the Inmate Welfare Fund/Inmate 

Visitation policies and RECEIVE presentation from the community regarding visitation policies. 
(Matthew Schuler, Assistant Sheriff) (Page 60) 
  

6. CONSIDER accepting a report from the Emergency Medical Services (EMS) Agency on the 
status of the EMS System Study currently being conducted by Fitch & Associates, LLC. (Pat 
Frost, EMS Director) (Page 67) 

  
7. Adjourn 

 
 
 
 

The Public Protection Committee will provide reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities planning to attend Public Protection Committee 
meetings.  Contact the staff person listed below at least 72 hours before the meeting. 

 Any disclosable public records related to an open session item on a regular meeting agenda and distributed by the County to a majority of members of 
the Public Protection Committee less than 96 hours prior to that meeting are available for public inspection at 651 Pine Street, 10th floor, during 
normal business hours. 

 Public comment may be submitted via electronic mail on agenda items at least one full work day prior to the published meeting time. 

For Additional Information Contact:                                                                                            Timothy Ewell, Committee Staff 
 Phone (925) 335-1036, Fax (925) 646-1353

timothy.ewell@cao.cccounty.us



   

 Acronyms, Abbreviations, and other Terms (in alphabetical order):   
Contra Costa County has a policy of making limited use of acronyms, abbreviations, and industry-specific language 
in its Board of Supervisors meetings and written materials.  Following is a list of commonly used language that may 
appear in oral presentations and written materials associated with Board meetings: 
 

 
AB Assembly Bill 
ABAG Association of Bay Area Governments 
ACA Assembly Constitutional Amendment 
ADA Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 
AFSCME American Federation of State County and Municipal 
 Employees 
AICP American Institute of Certified Planners 
AIDS Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome 
ALUC Airport Land Use Commission 
AOD Alcohol and Other Drugs 
BAAQMD Bay Area Air Quality Management District 
BART Bay Area Rapid Transit District 
BCDC  Bay Conservation & Development Commission 
BGO Better Government Ordinance 
BOS Board of Supervisors 
CALTRANS California Department of Transportation 
CalWIN California Works Information Network 
CalWORKS California Work Opportunity and Responsibility 
 to Kids 
CAER Community Awareness Emergency Response 
CAO County Administrative Officer or Office 
CCHP Contra Costa Health Plan 
CCTA Contra Costa Transportation Authority 
CDBG Community Development Block Grant 
CEQA California Environmental Quality Act 
CIO Chief Information Officer 
COLA Cost of living adjustment 
ConFire Contra Costa Consolidated Fire District 
CPA Certified Public Accountant 
CPI Consumer Price Index 
CSA County Service Area 
CSAC California State Association of Counties 
CTC California Transportation Commission 
dba doing business as 
EBMUD East Bay Municipal Utility District 
EIR Environmental Impact Report 
EIS Environmental Impact Statement 
EMCC Emergency Medical Care Committee 
EMS Emergency Medical Services 
EPSDT State Early Periodic Screening, Diagnosis and  
 treatment Program (Mental Health) 
et al. et ali (and others) 
FAA Federal Aviation Administration 
FEMA Federal Emergency Management Agency 
F&HS Family and Human Services Committee 
First 5 First Five Children and Families Commission  
 (Proposition 10) 
FTE Full Time Equivalent 
FY Fiscal Year 
GHAD Geologic Hazard Abatement District 
GIS Geographic Information System 

HCD (State Dept of) Housing & Community Development 
HHS Department of Health and Human Services 
HIPAA Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act 
HIV Human Immunodeficiency Syndrome 
HOV High Occupancy Vehicle 
HR Human Resources 
HUD United States Department of Housing and Urban  
 Development 
Inc. Incorporated 
IOC Internal Operations Committee 
ISO Industrial Safety Ordinance 
JPA Joint (exercise of) Powers Authority or Agreement 
Lamorinda Lafayette-Moraga-Orinda Area 
LAFCo Local Agency Formation Commission 
LLC Limited Liability Company 
LLP Limited Liability Partnership 
Local 1 Public Employees Union Local 1 
LVN Licensed Vocational Nurse 
MAC Municipal Advisory Council 
MBE Minority Business Enterprise  
M.D. Medical Doctor 
M.F.T. Marriage and Family Therapist 
MIS Management Information System 
MOE Maintenance of Effort 
MOU Memorandum of Understanding 
MTC Metropolitan Transportation Commission 
NACo National Association of Counties 
OB-GYN Obstetrics and Gynecology 
O.D. Doctor of Optometry 
OES-EOC Office of Emergency Services-Emergency  
 Operations Center 
OSHA Occupational Safety and Health Administration 
Psy.D. Doctor of Psychology 
RDA Redevelopment Agency 
RFI Request For Information 
RFP Request For Proposal 
RFQ Request For Qualifications 
RN Registered Nurse 
SB Senate Bill 
SBE Small Business Enterprise 
SWAT Southwest Area Transportation Committee 
TRANSPAC Transportation Partnership & Cooperation (Central) 
TRANSPLAN  Transportation Planning Committee (East County) 
TRE or TTE Trustee 
TWIC Transportation, Water and Infrastructure Committee 
VA Department of Veterans Affairs 
vs. versus (against) 
WAN Wide Area Network 
WBE Women Business Enterprise 
WCCTAC West Contra Costa Transportation Advisory  
 Committee 

 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 



PPC Packet 8/12/2013 
Item 3 

 
2013 PUBLIC PROTECTION COMMITTEE 

 
REVIEW DRAFT REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS (RFQs) FOR  

AB109 DATA AND EVALUATION SERVICES 
 
On January 15th, the Board of Supervisors directed the County Administrator to facilitate 
a Request for Proposals (RFP) process for $4.035 million in community program 
funding as part of the FY 2012/13 AB 109 Public Safety Realignment budget process. 
 
On February 11th, the Public Protection Committee reviewed the initial draft RFPs 
prepared by the County Administrator’s Office and provided revisions for inclusion into 
the drafts prior to referring to the Community Corrections Partnership for review. 
 
On March 1st, the Community Corrections Partnership reviewed the draft RFPs, as 
revised by the Public Protection Committee, and provided feedback for staff. 
 
On May 21st, the Board of Supervisors approved a package of contracts to effectuate 
the community programs portion of the 2013/14 AB109 budget after a highly successful 
RFP process. 
 
On August 2nd, the Community Corrections Partnership reviewed and approved a draft 
Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for AB109 Data Evaluation/Collection efforts and has 
forwarded the draft RFQ to the Public Protection Committee for final review and 
approval. 
 
August 12, 2013 
 
Attached is the staff report and draft RFQ approved by the full Community Corrections 
Partnership for review and approval by the Committee. 
 
Senior Deputy County Administrator Lara DeLaney will present the RFQ to the 
Committee at today’s meeting and be available to answer questions that the Committee 
may have. 
 
 
 

Page 3 of 82



 
County of Contra Costa 

OFFICE OF THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 

DATE:  July 26, 2013       

 

TO:  COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS PARTNERSHIP 

       

FROM: LARA DeLANEY, Interim Senior Deputy County Administrator 

   

SUBJECT: Agenda Item No. 5:  AB 109 Data Collection and Program Evaluation Draft 

Request for Qualifications (RFQ) 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

REVIEW the Draft RFQ for Data Collection and Program Evaluation Services and 

RECOMMEND approval to the Public Protection Committee. 

 

DISCUSSION: 

 

As directed by the Board of Supervisors at its February 26, 2013 meeting, the County 

Administrator’s Office was tasked with developing and issuing a solicitation for the procurement 

of evaluation services for the County’s AB 109 Public Safety Realignment program.  $246,000 

in AB 109 Public Safety Realignment funding has been allocated in the FY 2012-13 and FY 

2013-14 budgets for this purpose. 

 

It is important to note that a consistent AB 109 evaluation approach has yet to emerge in 

California. While counties are actively collecting data related to Public Safety Realignment 

populations, most have not established a formal evaluation approach and do not yet have a 

budget reserved for evaluation of their AB 109 programs. 

 

Note:  With regard to the format for solicitation of data collection and evaluation services, the 

CAO’s office, in consultation with the County’s Purchasing Manager David Gould, recommends 

the development of an RFQ (Request for Qualifications), as opposed to an RFP (Request for 

Proposals).  Generally, with an RFQ, selection is made based on the qualifications of the firm or 

individual.  The RFQ does not have a financial component and may be used to create a list for 

future consideration. With an RFP, selection is based on responses and the proposer’s ability to 

complete the Scope of Work. The RFP requests a cost proposal as a component of the response, 

and it may be used for a specific project. 

 

Data and Evaluation Committee  

 

Early in 2013, a work group of Community Advisory Board (CAB), Community Corrections 

Partnership (CCP) members, and community members was established as the “Data and 

Evaluation Committee” to promote the implementation and long-term sustainability of data 

collection and analysis, help the County track outcomes, and determine the effectiveness of 

Page 4 of 82



Community Corrections Partnership – August 2, 2013 Meeting  July 26, 2013 
Agenda Item No. 5  Page 2 

 

policies, programs, and practices that affect offender behavior, reducing recidivism and 

enhancing public safety. 

 

The Data and Evaluation Committee convened on July 16 to review the preliminary draft RFQ 

and provide input on its development.  The Committee formed an informal Subcommittee of 

members to provide specific comments and recommendations on the development of the Draft 

RFQ.  The attached Draft RFQ incorporates the work of the Subcommittee and was redistributed 

to the Data and Evaluation Committee members for additional input. 

 

Proposed Timeline 

 

The timeline for the RFQ process has been adjusted to incorporate time for an optional 

Responders (Bidders) Conference that the Data and Evaluation Committee recommended be held 

via conference call.  The timeline for conclusion of the solicitation process, however, has not 

changed: 

 

  
 

 

Review Panel Composition 

 

A Review Panel will need to be established to evaluate all responses received.  The Data and 

Evaluation Committee recommended that the panel composition include a representative of the 

Community Advisory Board.  If approved, the final composition of the Review Panel would be: 

 

1. Chief Probation Officer or his designee 

2. CAO staff 

3. The County Reentry Coordinator 

4. A criminal justice research professional (unaffiliated with any responders) 

5. A formerly incarcerated person 

6. A member of the Community Advisory Board 

7. Staff of a Department engaged in data collection and program evaluation activities related 

to AB 109.   

 

AB 109 Data Collection & Program Evaluation RFQ Timeline

Event 5 month process

Draft RFQ Scope of Services & Timeline to CCP June 7, 2013 Preliminary scope of services and proposed timeline

Draft RFQ Scope & Timeline to PPC June 10, 2013 Preliminary scope of services and proposed timeline

Final RFQ to CCP Aug. 2, 2013

Final RFQ to PPC Aug. 12, 2013 CCP and PPC  not meeting July 5.

RFQ Issued Aug. 14, 2013 Two days after approval by PPC

Bidders Conference Aug. 21, 2013 10:00 a.m. to 11:00 a.m. Optional Conference.

Written Questions Due from bidders Aug. 28, 2013

Addendum Issued Sept. 4, 2013

Responses Due Sept. 20, 2013 37 days (5.5 weeks)

Evaluation Period Sept. 23-27, 2013 One working week

Results Letter Issued Sept. 27, 2013

Appeal Period Sept. 27- Oct. 3, 2013

CCP Reviews Results October 4, 2013

Public Protection Reviews Results October 14, 2013

Board Award Date October 22, 2013

Contract Start Date November 1, 2013

Page 5 of 82



Community Corrections Partnership – August 2, 2013 Meeting  July 26, 2013 
Agenda Item No. 5  Page 2 

 

CAO staff will be soliciting nominations for Panel members 4-7 from the CCP, CAB, and other 

sources. 

 

On the basis of panel ratings recommendations, it is expected that the Public Protection 

Committee will make recommendations to the Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors on 

contract award. 

 

Opportunities for Collaboration 

 

California Forward’s Partnership for Community Excellence is proposing to convene counties in 

small groups to discuss local and/or regional challenges and opportunities associated with AB 

109 implementation. The meetings will be customized to local needs, and the Partnership has 

resources to provide targeted, technical assistance in follow up. The Partnership will cover the 

costs associated with these gatherings.  Staff has contacted CA Forward to suggest that a regional 

convening be facilitated around program evaluation efforts; it is currently under development.  

We hope to establish an ongoing forum with neighboring counties on data collection and 

program evaluation efforts underway for our AB 109 programs. 

 

In addition, staff has been in contact with a Research Fellow at the Public Policy Institute of 

California (PPIC), Ryken Grattet, who is conducting a study of 10 counties’ realignment efforts.  

PPIC has offered both the state and the counties help to a) develop realignment-relevant data to 

aid the Board of State and Community Corrections (BSCC) in meeting its reporting obligations 

and its responsibility to support counties in the implementation of realignment; b) assist counties 

in identifying data that will enhance county decision-making in the short term and management 

of community corrections populations in the long term; and c) provide an empirical basis for 

evaluating various policies in relation to public safety and other outcomes. 

 

PPIC does not engage in contracted research with governmental agencies in California. So, they 

are not seeking a contract. However, this effort will require resources and is not a complete 

“freebie”. First of all, they will need to work with staff to establish the flows of data. They will 

have a better sense of how burdensome that will be when they come to meet with the staff that 

handle data in our county. This will provide a better sense of what would be required to 

participate. They are trying to set this up in way that will minimize the burden on counties by 

arranging to bring about 1/3 of the data from CDCR and DOJ to the counties. Once they initiate 

the data collection, they will return in roughly six month intervals (for three years), again likely 

drawing some amount of attention from staff.  

 

When the County has established a contractor for the Data Collection and Program Evaluation 

Services, part of the contract with the external researcher could entail the researcher working 

with PPIC to implement the same BSCC-PPIC codebook being undertaken in other counties. 

PPIC cannot provide program evaluations in 10 counties, but they can help set up the necessary 

data for other researchers to come in and do just that. And, what will be set up through the PPIC-

BSCC project is the ability for a given county to join their data with other counties to increase 

empirical strength of the evaluation. 

 

PPIC is seeking funds from other foundations and the federal government to help cover some of 

the study costs and to supplement whatever counties provide to contracted research staff. They 

Page 6 of 82



Community Corrections Partnership – August 2, 2013 Meeting  July 26, 2013 
Agenda Item No. 5  Page 2 

 

do not have those funds in hand, but getting counties interested and on board, is part of the way 

to entice funders into action. 

 

Also, just to be clear: While PPIC is intrigued by the possibility of adding Contra Costa County, 

they have not completed their internal discussions at PPIC about whether to do that yet. Staff are 

in discussions with Mr. Grattet and are awaiting additional information. 

 

 

Attachments 

Attachment A – Draft RFQ for Data Collection and Program Evaluation Services for AB 109 

Attachment B – Description of PPIC Study “Measuring Performance and Outcomes of 

California’s Public Safety Realignment.” 

Page 7 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 1 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

 

Final responses will be due at 651 Pine Street, 10
th

 floor, Martinez CA 94553  

by 5:00 p.m. on September 20, 2013. 
 

Written questions about the RFQ can be submitted to lara.delaney@cao.cccounty.us  

by 5:00 p.m. on Wednesday, August 28, 2013.   

 

A Responders Conference will be conducted on August 21, 2013  

from 10:00 a.m. to 11:00 a.m. via conference call.   

To participate, please call 1-888-278-0254, participant code 675509#.  

 

If you would like to participate in the Responders Conference, you are requested to 

return the Responders Conference RSVP form on page 37. 

 

 

Thank you in advance for your efforts in preparing your response. 

 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS (RFQ) #1307-026 

 Data Collection and Program Evaluation Services for AB 109 Program 

 
 

 

The Contra Costa County Administrator’s Office is pleased to announce, on behalf of the Board 

of Supervisors, the availability of up to $246,000 for “Data Collection and Program Evaluation 

Services” for the County’s AB 109 Public Safety Realignment Program, for the period 

November 1, 2013 through June 30, 2014. 

 

This RFQ is a process by which the County solicits qualifications of qualified responders who 

may be selected to enter into a contract with the County. 

 

Please read this entire packet carefully. 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

Contra 

Costa 

County 

Page 8 of 82

mailto:lara.delaney@cao.cccounty.us


 

7/25/13 Page 2 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 

 

  Page No.

    
Legal Classified Notice 3 

 

RFQ Timeline  4  

 

Project Description 5 

 

RFQ Requirements and Instructions for Responders 15 

 

Response Preparation Instructions 19  

 

Response Review and Selection 24   

 

Evaluation Process/Rating Sheet 26  

 

Required Attachments and Responder Checklist 28  

 

Forms 1-3 (to be completed by all responders) 30-36 

 

Responders Conference RSVP Form 37  
 

County Contract Requirements 38 

 

County Contract General Conditions 40  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 9 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 3 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

LEGAL CLASSIFIED NOTICE 

 

 

 

 

CONTRA COSTA COUNTY REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS #1307-026 

 

 

DATA COLLECTION AND PROGRAM EVALUATION SERVICES  

FOR AB 109 PROGRAM 

 

 

The Contra Costa County Administrator’s Office announces, on behalf of the Board of 

Supervisors, the issuance of Request for Qualifications (RFQ) #1307-026 making available up to 

$246,000 for qualified individuals and agencies to provide data collection and program 

evaluation services for the County’s Public Safety Realignment (AB 109) program for the period 

November 1, 2013 to June 30, 2014.  

 

Responses are due by 5:00 p.m. on September 20, 2013, without exception.  Additional 

information and RFQ copy is available at website: http://www.co.contra-

costa.ca.us/index.aspx?NID=2366 or by calling (925) 335-1097. 

 

  

Page 10 of 82

http://www.co.contra-costa.ca.us/index.aspx?NID=2366
http://www.co.contra-costa.ca.us/index.aspx?NID=2366


 

7/25/13 Page 4 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

RFQ TIMELINE 
 

 

 

1. RFQ announced:     Wednesday, August 14, 2013 

 

2. Written Questions Due from Responders: 5:00 p.m., August 28 , 2013 

 

3.   Addendum Issued:    September 4, 2013 

 

5. Response Submission Deadline:  5:00 p.m., September 20, 2013 

              County Administrator’s Office 

    651 Pine Street, 10
th

 Floor 

    Martinez, CA  94553 

 

No Response will be accepted after this date and time.  Postmarked, facsimiled and e-

mail submissions will not be accepted. 
 

6.   Review and rating process:   from Sept. 23-Sept. 27, 2013 

 

7. Notification of award recommendations:  September 27, 2013 

 

8. Appeal period:     September 27-October 3, 2013 

 

Deadline to submit appeal letters:  5:00 PM, October 3, 2013. 

 

9. Community Corrections Partnership Review:  October 4, 2013 

 

10. Public Protection Committee Review: October 14, 2013 

 

11. Board of Supervisors approval and authorization to award contracts is tentatively 

scheduled for the October 22, 2013 Board of Supervisors’ agenda. 

 

  

Page 11 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 5 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

 

 

 

 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS #1307-026 

 

DATA COLLECTION AND PROGRAM EVALUATION SERVICES  

FOR AB 109 PROGRAM 

 

 

 

Project Description 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 12 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 6 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

I. Introduction 
 

The Contra Costa County Administrator’s Office (CAO), on behalf of the Board of Supervisors, 

is issuing this Request for Qualifications (RFQ) #1307-026 to receive qualifications from 

individuals and agencies for data collection and program evaluation services related to the 

implementation of AB 109 Public Safety Realignment in Contra Costa County.  Based on the 

response to this solicitation for qualifications, Contra Costa County (County) plans to contract 

with service providers for an initial period of November 1, 2013 to June 30, 2014.  The County 

will retain the discretion to renew any contract issued, contingent on availability of funding and 

demonstrated successful performance by funded entities during the initial contract period. 

 

Private, not-for-profit organizations, for-profit organizations, public agencies, individuals, and 

not-for-profit institutions of education with experience in developing and implementing complex 

data collection and evaluation systems related to justice systems, systems of care, and public 

service delivery, are invited to submit Responses. 

 

If you or your organization is interested and capable of providing the requested services by 

contract with the County, please carefully review the Request for Qualifications (RFQ) and 

submit your response as directed in the "Response Preparation Instructions."  This solicitation is 

not in any way to be construed as an agreement, obligation, or contract between the County and 

any party submitting a response, nor will the County pay for any costs associated with the 

preparation of any response. 

 

II. Synonymous Terms 

 

 As used throughout this bid and its attachments, the following terms are synonymous:         

              

1. a.    Supplier, Vendor, Contractor, Successful Responder, Consultant 

 b.    Purchase Order, Contract, Agreement 

 c.    Services, Work, Scope, and Project  

          d.    Proposer, Responder 

  

2. “The County” refers to the County of Contra Costa, California.         

 

III.  Background 
 

In 2011, the California Legislature passed the Public Safety Realignment Act (AB 109), which 

transferred responsibility for supervising specific low-level inmates and parolees from the 

California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation to counties. This Act tasked local 

government at the county level with developing a new approach to reducing recidivism among 

certain low-level felony criminal offenders. AB 109 took effect October 1, 2011 and realigned 

three major areas of the criminal justice system.   

 

On a prospective basis, the legislation: 

 

 Transferred the location of incarceration for lower-level offenders (specified non-violent, 

Page 13 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 7 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

non-serious, non-sex offenders) from state prison to local county jail pursuant to Penal 

Code 1170 (h) and provides for an expanded role for post-release Mandatory Supervision 

for these offenders; 

 

 Transferred responsibility for post-release supervision of lower-level offenders (those 

released from prison after having served a sentence for a non-violent, non-serious, and 

non-sex offense) from the state to the county level by creating a new category of 

supervision called Post-Release Community Supervision (PRCS); 

 

 Transferred the housing responsibility for parole and PRCS revocations to local jail 

custody. 
 

AB 109 also tasked the local Community Corrections Partnership (CCP) with recommending to 

the County Board of Supervisors a plan for implementing public safety Realignment.  The 

Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors adopted the Contra Costa County Realignment Plan 

on October 4, 2011 (Agenda Item D.5), as recommended by the Executive Committee of the 

CCP.  

 

The Executive Committee of the CCP is composed of the County Probation Officer (Chair), 

Sheriff-Coroner, a Chief of Police (represented by the Richmond Police Chief), District 

Attorney, Public Defender, Presiding Judge of the Superior Court or designee (represented by the 

Court Executive Officer), and the County Behavioral Health Director.   

 

A Community Advisory Board (CAB) was established by the CCP Executive Committee in 

December 2012 to provide input on community needs; assess implementation of the realignment 

plan; review data on realignment outcomes; advise the CCP on community engagement 

strategies; offer recommendations for ongoing realignment planning; advise County agencies 

regarding programs for implementation in the County; and encourage outcomes that are 

consistent with the County’s Reentry Strategic Plan. 

 

On August 24, 2012 the Executive Committee of the CCP unanimously agreed that the goals 

established by the Contra Costa County Reentry Strategic Plan
1
 would guide the planning for 

Public Safety Realignment. These goals are: 

 

 Use a holistic, systemic, and inclusive approach that involves federal, state and 

local government stakeholders, community organizations, advocates, the formerly 

incarcerated, and family and community members; 

 Adopt strategies that draw on evidenced-based approaches and practices; 

 Target high- to moderate-risk probationers and parolees through the use of 

evidence-based tools; 

 Emphasize geographic areas from which a disproportionate number of formerly 

incarcerated people are drawn and to which they return; 

 Incorporate assessment and case management tools targeting continuous reentry 

                                                           
1
 Available at http://www.cccounty.us/DocumentCenter/View/25650 

Page 14 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 8 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

planning, beginning at the point of admission to the criminal justice system, and 

working through pre- and post-release; 

 Embrace a commitment to the continuous and appropriate delivery of drug 

treatment, medical care, job training and placement, educational services, 

cognitive behavioral therapy and/or other service essential to reentry;  

 Provide for independent evaluations of reentry programs using, when feasible, 

random assignment and controlled studies to determine effectiveness of programs 

and services provided; and 

 Reduce crime, increase public protection, and protect people from further 

victimization. 

 

For FY 2012-13, the CCP-Executive Committee recommended and the Board of Supervisors 

approved a Public Safety Realignment budget of $20,689,520, comprised of $16,665,069 in 

ongoing and $4,024,451 in one-time funding for various AB 109 implementation efforts and 

programming.  

 

For fiscal year 2013-14, Contra Costa County anticipates the receipt of $22,854,832 of AB 109 

Public Safety Realignment revenue. On May 16, 2013, the Public Protection Committee 

accepted the CCP-Executive Committee's budget recommendations and added $200,000 to the 

Sheriff's Office allocation for the establishment of a "Jail to Community" program. On May 21, 

2013, the Board of Supervisors approved the FY 2013-14 AB 109 Public Safety Realignment 

budget (Agenda Item D.3) in the amount of $23,072,666; $21,435,766 in ongoing and 

$1,636,900 in one-time funding. Of this amount, $900,000 was reserved for the establishment of 

a Pre-Trial services program.  

 

In addition to the FY 2013-14 budget allocations for County departments, at its May 21, 2013 

meeting, the Board of Supervisors also approved the award of contracts to community based 

organizations to provide the following reentry related services for the period June 1, 2013 

through June 30, 2014: 

 

• Employment Support and Placement Services  $2,000,000 

• Planning of (3) One-Stop Centers    $   120,000 

• Short and Long-Term Housing Access   $   500,000 

• Peer and Mentoring Services     $   200,000 

 

$198,000 of FY 13-14 AB 109 Public Safety Realignment funding is allocated to the CAO’s 

office for the provision of data collection and program evaluation services.  In total, $246,000 

has been budgeted for these services, to date.  

  

IV. AB 109 Service Delivery Model in Contra Costa County 

 

The service delivery model developed by the CCP will involve multiple organizations working 

in collaboration to provide services to address the specific criminogenic needs of the AB 109 

population. Service providers are directed to incorporate the evidence-based practice of service 

delivery prior to community release, whenever possible. 

Page 15 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 9 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

 

A dedicated unit of AB 109 Probation Officers serve as lead case managers to coordinate and 

track services provided by County and community-based partner organizations. The AB 109 

Probation Officers interview clients using the Correctional Assessment and Intervention System 

(CAIS)
2
 a comprehensive assessment tool which combines validated risk and needs assessments 

with suggested supervision strategies for case planning. Areas of criminogenic need are 

identified and prioritized in developing an individualized case plan that addresses specific goals 

and needed services.  

 

Throughout the past year, AB 109 Probation Officers have worked closely with the County’s 

Behavioral Health Division’s “Forensic Team” to coordinate service referrals. The Forensic 

Team was formed to address the needs of criminal justice involved individuals with co-occurring 

mental health and substance abuse disorders. In addition to mental health counseling and 

medication management, clients can access residential and out-patient substance abuse treatment, 

short term housing through homeless shelters, as well as assistance with enrollment in state and 

federal benefits including health care and income supports.  

 

This innovative partnership between County agencies will be further supported by AB 109 

funded community-based employment, housing, mentoring services as well as access to the 

Reentry Resource Centers in each region of Contra Costa County. In addition, the Employment 

and Human Services Department has received AB 109 funding for two designated employment 

specialists to work at the County One-stop employment centers to coordinate with County and 

community providers. 

 

For Penal Code 1170(h) individuals sentenced to Mandatory Supervision, a designated AB 109 

Probation Officer will initiate case management pre-release, including completing CAIS risk and 

needs assessments and developing a transition plan. Where appropriate, AB 109 individuals will 

access comprehensive Forensic Team services. AB 109 individuals who are not dually diagnosed 

with co-occurring disorders can still access the AB 109 designated shelter beds and substance 

abuse programs with Probation Officer referral to the County Behavioral Health Division.  Both 

AB 109 Probation Officers and Forensic Team staff make direct referrals and coordinate services 

with agencies funded to provide employment, mentoring and housing services. 

 

In addition to the coordinated care system described above, County allocated AB 109 funding to 

the Public Defender and District Attorney (DA) for staff to provide Arraignment Court Early 

Representation (ACER), which provides for representation at arraignment for indigent clients; a 

full-time Clean Slate paralegal to aid County residents seeking expungement; an additional 

Assistant District Attorney and Assistant Public Defender for Domestic Violence filings; three 

additional Victim Witness Advocates; and a Reentry Attorney in the DA’s office to research and 

implement alternative sentencing strategies. 

 

In addition to funds for operational expenses, Sheriff’s Office staffing expanded through AB 109 

to include 19 additional sheriff deputies and a sergeant to oversee corrections, several support 

staff, and an AB 109 Program Analyst to coordinate jail-based and community programs. 

                                                           
2
 National Council on Crime and Delinquency.  (2009).  CAIS System Manual.  (Madison, WI: NCCD) 

Page 16 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 10 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

Additional funds for facility updates and renovations were secured in FY 2012-13 and 2013-14. 

Approximately $3 million dollars is currently held in reserve for potential expansion at the West 

County Detention Facility. 

 

Through the FY 13-14 AB 109 Public Safety Realignment budget, Detention Health Services has 

also expanded nursing staff at West County and Marsh Creek Detention Facilities and added a 

Mental Health Clinician as well. 

 

In recognition of the impacts of Realignment on local law enforcement, the cities of Richmond, 

Concord, Pittsburg and Antioch received funding for 4 additional officers as the cities most 

impacted by crime to coordinate more closely with County Probation. 

 

Finally, the County is developing a pre-trial program that is expected to launch in January 2014 

that will incorporate interviews by Probation staff using the Virginia Pretrial Risk Assessment 

Instrument
3
 to develop reports/recommendations available at arraignment to aid in increased 

pretrial release for individuals based upon a manageable risk to public safety and likelihood of 

court appearance. 

 

Data collection and evaluation efforts are intended to aid in measuring the efficacy of the County 

and community services and programs over time. 

 

V. Overview of AB 109 Population in Contra Costa County 

 

The AB 109 population includes offenders released from state prison on or after October 1, 2011 

who are placed on PRCS provided by the Probation Department and offenders convicted of a 

non-violent, non-serious, non-sex offense pursuant to Penal Code 1170(h) who are incarcerated 

in County jail and/or assigned to Mandatory Supervision by Probation. 

 

Demographic Highlights 

 

The County is partnering with organizations that have expertise in delivering reentry services to 

a diverse population assessed as moderate or high risk to re-offend. Successful responders were 

required to demonstrate understanding of the demographics and criminogenic needs of justice-

involved individuals and articulate a track record of experience providing commensurate 

evidence-based services and interventions. 

Since October 1, 2011, the AB 109 unit of the Contra Costa County Probation Department has 

supervised 738 clients, 425 under Post-Release Community Supervision and 313 on Mandatory 

Supervision under Penal Code 1170(h)(5)(b). A majority (90%) of AB 109 clients are male. 

Even so, services that are gender-responsive to the needs of female clients are encouraged. While 

clients range in age from 18 to over 65, the average age is 37 and the majority of clients are 18 to 

45 years old.  

                                                           
3 VanNostrand, M. & Rose, K. J.  (2009).  The Virginia Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument. Retrieved from 

http://www.dcjs.virginia.gov/corrections/riskAssessment/assessingRisk.pdf. 

 

Page 17 of 82

http://www.dcjs.virginia.gov/corrections/riskAssessment/assessingRisk.pdf


 

7/25/13 Page 11 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

Ninety-two (92) percent of currently supervised AB 109 clients are assessed as moderate to high-

risk for recidivism using the CAIS tool. CAIS determines risk through a semi-structured 

interview that identifies gender responsive risks, strengths and needs in a number of domains 

including mental illness, substance abuse, antisocial behavior history, antisocial-procriminal 

attitudes and associations, personality patterns and familial factors. 

As of February 1, 2013, the AB 109 unit actively supervised 465 clients residing in Contra Costa 

County. Approximately 200 (43%) reside in East County (Antioch, Bay Point, Brentwood, 

Discovery Bay, Oakley, Pittsburg), approximately 145 (30%) reside in West County (Crockett, 

El Sobrante, Hercules, Pinole, Richmond, Rodeo, San Pablo), approximately 120 (25%) reside in 

Central County (Clayton, Concord, Lafayette, Pacheco, Martinez, Pleasant Hill, Walnut Creek), 

and 2% of AB 109 clients reside in other counties (Alameda, Sacramento, Solano, Yolo). 

In East County, 88% of AB 109 clients reside in Antioch, Pittsburg and Bay Point. In West 

County, 83% reside in the cities of Richmond and San Pablo. In Central County, 80% reside in 

Concord and Martinez.  

Table 1: County AB 109 Population Demographics (October 1, 2011 to February 1, 2013)* 

 PRCS 1170(h) Total 

Total Clients 425 313 738 

Gender    

Male 393 271 90% 

Female 31 42 10% 

Other 1 0 < 1% 

Age    

Average Age 38 37 37  

18-25 12% 8% 10% 

26-35 33% 43% 37% 

36-45 29% 29% 29% 

46-55 22% 15% 19% 

56-65 4% 5% 4% 

66+ < 1% 0% 0% 

Race/Ethnicity    

White 32% 42% 36% 

Black 45% 27% 37% 

Hispanic 19% 15% 17% 

Asian < 1% NA < 1% 

Pacific Islander NA NA NA 

Filipino < 1% < 1% < 1% 

Samoan < 1% NA < 1% 

Native American NA NA NA 

Other < 1% NA < 1% 

Unknown 3% 16% 7% 

*Percentages may not total 100% due to rounding 

 

Page 18 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 12 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

VI. Funding 
 

Up to $246,000 (two hundred forty-six thousand dollars) is allocated in the AB 109 Public Safety 

Realignment Budget to fund the provision of Data Collection and Program Evaluation Services 

countywide, and the contract period is from November 1, 2013 through June 30, 2014. The 

Contra Costa County Administrator’s Office will administer these funds.  

 

The contract(s) resulting from this RFQ may potentially be renewable for FY 2014-15 at the sole 

discretion the Board of Supervisors.    

 

This RFQ may result in a single award or multiple awards.  RFQ response scoring (rankings) by 

the Review Panel may be utilized for additional contract awards at a future date. 

 

VII. Purpose, Services, and Outcomes of RFQ 
 

A.  Purpose:   

 

The Contra Costa Board of Supervisors has directed the County Administrator’s Office to 

issue this Request for Qualifications to identify outstanding candidates to develop a 

comprehensive data collection and program evaluation plan to support formative (process) 

and summative (outcome) evaluations of its AB 109 program. 

 

Consistent with the Contra Costa County Reentry Strategic Plan and the Contra Costa 

County AB 109 Operations Plan
4
 [adopted January 2013], the evaluation plan should 

measure the extent to which AB 109 services have improved long-term liberty for the AB 

109 population, increased public safety, reduced recidivism, and enhanced coordination 

amongst public and community service providers to provide effective and efficient systems 

integration. 

 

These data collection and program evaluation services must be independent and objective. In 

the performance of these services, the successful contractor shall avoid all conflicts of 

interest and all appearances of conflicts of interest.  All conflicts of interest and potential 

conflicts of interest shall be described in detail in the response with any proposed resolutions 

to allow the services to be completed objectively. 

 

The proposers of the data collection and program evaluation services for the AB 109 Public 

Safety Realignment Program must be familiar with the expectations of the County agencies 

and reentry service providers as well as demonstrate the ability to evaluate and analyze the 

fidelity, effectiveness and outcomes of such services, described above in section IV.   

 

The successful contractor is expected to develop data collection and program evaluation 

systems and policies to support AB 109 Public Safety Realignment service implementation 

by the County and community based organizations and the analysis of the required data 

elements.  Because the first years of AB 109 involve multiple new approaches and strategies 

                                                           
4
 Available at http://www.cccounty.us/DocumentCenter/View/25652 

Page 19 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 13 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

that will emerge and shift over time, the successful contractor is also expected to utilize 

current findings to provide recommendations of additional strategies and expected outcomes 

that may positively impact the County’s AB 109 Public Safety Realignment system, 

including a description of what the service outcomes may suggest about the County’s AB 

109 Public Safety Realignment system.   

 

The County and community based organizations are expected to ensure adequate data 

collection, management and reporting of indicators. The successful contractor must 

collaborate with County and community service providers to identify relevant and necessary 

data elements, develop protocols for data collection, sharing, and use, and design formative 

and summative evaluation plans to assess AB 109 Public Safety Realignment 

implementation. Responders should demonstrate past experience with or willingness to 

collaborate with other research partners that may be engaged by the County. 
 

B. Services and Desired Outcomes: 

 

In responding to this opportunity to develop a comprehensive data collection and program 

evaluation strategy, responders should indicate how they would address the following areas of 

work and demonstrate capacity and experience in multiple realms related to this RFQ, such as: 

 

1. Analysis of existing data practices, data sets, and collection and reporting strategies 

currently used by public agencies and non-profit organizations involved with this 

population;  

2. Assessments of and recommendations regarding data-related infrastructure of public 

agencies and community organizations involved with this population;  

3. Development of county-wide, shared definitions for critical elements of AB 109 (e.g., a 

common definition or set of definitions for recidivism); 

4. Development of county-wide, shared baseline data sets and common baseline outcome 

metrics, benchmarks, and comparison sets; 

5. Development of common policies to support efficient and effective data-gathering, data-

sharing, and data-use among agencies and organizations serving this population; 

6. Analysis and recommendations related to the development of a user-friendly, access-

protected, web-based AB 109 metric dashboard accessible to and readily customizable by 

various stakeholders. 

7. Development and implementation of formative and summative evaluations for integrated, 

multi-stakeholder systems of care; 

8. Applying mixed-methods designs, incorporating both quantitative and qualitative 

techniques, in evaluation; 

9. Assessment and recommendations related to options for data infrastructures and web-

based Constituent Relationship Management (CRM) and Case Management System 

(CMS) platforms; 

Page 20 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 14 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

10. Subject-matter research and advice related to AB 109 implementation and evaluation 

strategies in other counties in California; and 

11. Development of draft agreements, policies, and procedures to guide data-related activities 

and data use for multiple stakeholders (public and private). 

 

The County recognizes that the development of a comprehensive data and evaluation plan may 

involve several phases of work; these phases may be undertaken by one or more consultants and 

may be implemented simultaneously or sequentially, as appropriate. 

 

The Community Advisory Board (CAB) of the Community Corrections Partnership has formed a 

Data and Evaluation Committee, which includes members of the CAB, the CCP, and the 

community.  Contractor(s) will be expected to work collaboratively with the Data and Evaluation 

Committee throughout the contract period. 

 

VIII. Contract Monitoring and Evaluation 

 

The County Administrator’s Office will actively monitor services provided through these 

contracts. 

 

At a minimum, contractors will be expected to: 

 

1. Perform all services without material deviation from an agreed-upon Service Plan. 

 

 

2. Complete progress report forms supplied by County. 

 

3. Maintain adequate records of service provision to document compliance with 

Service Plan and complete forms supplied. 

 

4. Cooperate with the collection of other fiscal/administrative/service data as 

requested by the County.   

 

The CAO will: 

 

1. Monitor subcontracts written by and entered into by the contractor; 

 

2. Provide information to contractors concerning additional State or County data 

requirements not provided herein.  

Page 21 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 15 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

 

 

 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS #1307-026 

 

DATA COLLECTION AND PROGRAM EVALUATION SERVICES 

 FOR AB 109 PROGRAM 

 

 

RFQ Requirements and Instructions for Responders 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 22 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 16 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

 

RFQ REQUIREMENTS AND 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR RESPONDERS 
 

 

The responder requirements in this section are mandatory.  Contra Costa County reserves the 

right to waive any nonmaterial variation. 

 

1. All responders shall submit one original response package and eight (8) complete copies 

of the response, under sealed cover, by mail or hand-delivery to the CAO at 651 Pine 

Street, 10
th

 Floor, Martinez, CA 94553 to be received no later than 5:00 p.m. on 

Friday, September 20, 2013.  Each submission must be marked on the outside with the 

Responder’s name and RFQ #1307-026.  Any response received after the deadline will be 

rejected.  Postmarks and faxed submissions are not acceptable. 

 

2. The CAO will review all received responses to make sure they are technically compliant 

with formatting and submission guidelines as per the RFQ.  Proposers that are non-

compliant with technical requirements will not move forward to the Review Panel. 

 

3. Responses and required attachments shall be submitted as specified and must be signed 

by officials authorized to bind the responder to the provisions of the RFQ.  All costs 

incurred in the preparation of a response will be the responsibility of the responder and 

will not be reimbursed by the County. 

 

4. A response may be withdrawn in person by a responder’s authorized representative prior 

to 12:00 p.m. on September 23, 2013.  If withdrawing a response, the responder’s 

authorized representative must provide appropriate identification (i.e. driver’s license) 

and sign a receipt attesting to his/her withdrawal of the response.   

 

5. An optional conference for prospective responders will be held on August 21, 2013 at 

10:00 a.m. via conference call to answer questions about the RFQ and the RFQ process. 

To participate in the Responders Conference, please call 1-888-278-0254, code 675509. 

 

6. Prospective proposers are requested to return the Responders Conference RSVP on page 

37. 

 

7. Any questions regarding this RFQ should be emailed to Lara.DeLaney@cao.cccounty.us 

on or before 5:00 p.m. on August 28, 2013.  Please include RFQ #1307-026 in the subject 

line.   

 

8. The CAO may amend this RFQ, if needed, to make changes or corrections to 

specifications or provide additional data.  Amendments will be posted at 

http://www.co.contra-costa.ca.us/index.aspx?NID=2366 and, if after the optional bidders 

conference, emailed to all those attending.  The CAO may extend the RFQ submission 

date, if necessary, to allow responders adequate time to consider additional information 

Page 23 of 82

mailto:Lara.DeLaney@cao.cccounty.us
http://www.co.contra-costa.ca.us/index.aspx?NID=2366


 

7/25/13 Page 17 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

and submit required data. 

 

9. The RFQ process may be canceled in writing by the CAO prior to awards if the Contra 

Costa County Board of Supervisors determines that cancellation is in the best interest of 

the County. 

 

10. With respect to this RFQ, the County reserves the right to reject any, some, or all 

responses.  The County reserves the right to negotiate separately in any manner to serve 

the best interests of the County.  All responses become property of the County, without 

obligation to any responder. 

 

11. Responses will be judged on overall quality of content and responsiveness to the purpose 

and specifications of this RFQ.  Responses should be without expensive artwork, unusual 

printing, or other materials not essential to the utility and clarity of the response.  

Evaluation criteria and weight factors are described below.  

 

12. A Review Panel will evaluate all responses received.  The panel will be composed of the 

Chief Probation Officer or his designee, CAO staff, the County Reentry Coordinator, a 

criminal justice research professional, a formerly incarcerated person, staff of a 

department engaged in data collection efforts, and a member of the Community Advisory 

Board.  On the basis of panel ratings recommendations, the Public Protection Committee 

will make recommendations to the Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors.  

Responders will be notified of this recommendation in writing.  Award of a contract by 

the Board of Supervisors will constitute acceptance of a response. 

 

13. Only responders submitting a response in accordance with RFQ #1307-026 may appeal 

the RFQ process.  Appeals must be submitted in writing and should be addressed to Lara 

DeLaney, Interim Senior Deputy County Administrator; County Administrator’s Office 

and received at 651 Pine Street, 10
th

 Floor, Martinez, CA 94553 no later than 5:00 PM on 

October 3, 2013.  Notification of a final decision on the appeal shall be made in writing 

to the responder.  When submitting, an appellant must clearly state the action appealed, 

the harm to the appellant, and the action sought. Appeals shall be limited to the following 

grounds: 

 

 Failure of the County to follow the selection procedures and adhere to 

requirements specified in the RFQ or any addenda or amendments. 

 There has been a violation of conflict of interest as provided by California 

Government Code Section 87100 et seq. 

 A violation of State or Federal law. 

 

 Notification of a final decision on the appeal by the CAO shall be made in writing to the 

responder within five (5) days, and the decision of the CAO shall be final and not subject 

to further review. 

 

14. Successful responders will be expected to promptly enter contract negotiation with the 

Page 24 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 18 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

CAO.  This may result in mutually agreed upon changes in plans or activities identified in 

the response.  As a result of this negotiation, actual contract(s) may include other 

agreements and clarifications of activities, consistent with the intent of this RFQ. 

 

15. Services will begin upon the signing of a contract according to a mutually agreed upon 

start-up schedule.  The County is not liable for any cost incurred by the contractor prior 

to the effective date of any contract. 

 

16. Selected contractor(s) will be responsible for all services offered in their response, 

whether or not contractor(s) perform them directly or through subcontractors in multiple 

agency collaboration. 

 

17. The CAO will actively monitor service implementation and delivery and provide contract 

monitoring.  Any material breach of contract requirements will constitute grounds for 

terminating the contract. 

 

18. Contracts from this RFQ will be for an 8-month period (November 1, 2013 through June 

30, 2014) with satisfactory performance as a condition of any future contract renewal. 

 

19. All contracted parties must agree to implement the County's alcohol/drug abuse 

prevention/treatment policy and comply with related monitoring and evaluation 

procedures. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 25 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 19 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS #1307-026 

 

DATA COLLECTION AND PROGRAM EVALUATION SERVICES  

FOR AB 109 PROGRAM 

 

 

Response Preparation Instructions 
  

Page 26 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 20 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

 

RESPONSE PREPARATION INSTRUCTIONS 
 

For the purposes of this RFQ, responses should address the following key concepts and goals: 

 Contra Costa County is committed to developing a comprehensive plan to improve the 

capacity, efficacy, efficiency, ease of use, and utility of data systems, data-sharing, and data 

analysis as they relate to justice-involved populations, particularly the AB 109 population.  

 The County has multiple goals for developing a data and evaluation plan, including (but not 

necessarily limited to) the following: 

 Enhance the capacity of all entities involved with the AB 109 population to 

develop and manage effective data systems and practices, to use data analysis to 

foster critical inquiry, and to increase familiarity with key concepts of evaluation;   

 Foster the development of an integrated, county-wide data system (including 

aligned and consistent infrastructures, protocols, and policies); 

 Allow evaluation of multiple types, including impact, formative, process, 

performance, and cost, as well as evaluation of progress on the implementation of 

multiple relevant plans, such as the Contra Costa County Reentry Strategic Plan 

and the County’s AB 109 Operations Plan; 

 Support County stakeholders in the development of key definitions (such as 

shared definitions of recidivism) and “Learning Questions,” such as, “What 

factors are most highly correlated with improved rates of recidivism for AB 109 

individuals in Contra Costa County?” 

 Development of a comprehensive data and evaluation plan may involve several phases of 

work; these phases may be undertaken by one or more consultants and may be implemented 

simultaneously or sequentially, as appropriate. 

 Development of a comprehensive data and evaluation plan will involve departments and 

divisions of multiple County agencies and municipalities; multiple systems (law 

enforcement, behavioral health, social service, courts, education); and private/nonprofit 

service providers.  

 The scope of work may require contractors with multiple capacities including: 

 Assessment of multiple existing data systems (infrastructure, policies, practices, 

population- and service-specific operations) and case management systems. 

 The ability to identify needs, challenges, and potential solutions to enable inter-

agency information sharing including identifying the technical, operational, fiscal, 

legal, and functional factors across multiple entities. 

Page 27 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 21 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

 The scope of work may require mixed methods, including combined review and analysis 

of departmental documentation; quantitative data from county and private data systems; 

and qualitative data from interviews with CCP partner agencies, service providers, and 

individuals eligible for supervision under AB 109. 

 The scope of work may include the development of an interim project evaluation, 

including key findings and recommendations for next steps or course corrections. 

RESPONSE INSTRUCTIONS 
 

1. Responses must be in the form of a package containing a complete response and all 

required supporting information and documents. 

 

2. Each responder must submit one (1) original package and eight (8) complete copies with 

attachments included, unless otherwise noted on Respondent's Checklist. 

 

3. Response materials are to be double-spaced on 8 1/2" x 11" paper (recycled preferred) 

with no less than 1" margins on all sides using an easy to read 12-point font.  Total 

response should not exceed 25 pages excluding cover sheet, table of contents, and 

required attachments. 

 

4. Pages must be stapled together and numbered consecutively with each section identified 

by an appropriate Roman numeral. 

 

5. Forms 1-3 (attached to this RFQ) are to be fully completed and attached in the order 

indicated on the Responder's Checklist. 

 

6. All information in the response package must be presented in the following sequence. 

(This listing shall comprise the Response Table of Contents.)   

 

 

RESPONSE OUTLINE 
  

I. Cover Statement  (Form #1) 
 

The Cover Statement with original signatures, in blue ink, of the responder's Authorized 

Representative attached to the original of the response must precede the narrative. Copies 

of the form must also serve as a cover page to the remaining eight (8) response copies 

submitted. 

 

II.  Responder Overview (2 pages) 

 

A. Responder’s history, years in operation, and number of years providing services 

described herein. 

B. Responder’s primary areas of expertise and current core services.  

Page 28 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 22 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

C. Responder’s qualifications (including resources and capabilities) as they relate to 

the scope of services described herein. 

D. Proposed staffing for this project, including their roles on this project, their 

qualifications and their credentials (CVs may be included as an attachment that will 

not count against the page limit).  

III. Approach to the Scope of Work (10 pages) 

A. Describe your approach to accomplishing the data and evaluation program goals 

described herein. What methods, activities, and phases would you anticipate?  

B. Discuss program/project milestones and how these milestones correlate to potential 

phases in the overall scope of work. 

C. Describe the key challenges likely to emerge and identify potential solutions to 

address such challenges. 

D. Discuss the role, level of expected involvement, and structures/opportunities for 

inclusion of relevant stakeholders. Include who needs to be involved, what 

involvement is required, and what mechanisms you would employ to foster 

involvement. 

E. Discuss user adoption of new data systems and evaluation methodologies. 

Additionally, how would you foster stakeholders’ capacity-building in data 

technology, data-related policies, and evaluation skills? 

IV. Technical Expertise (5 pages) 

A. Discuss your subject-matter expertise as it relates to:   

1. criminal justice systems and other systems of care 

2. AB 109 Public Safety Realignment 

3. multi-system coordination and systems integration 

4. Record Management Systems (RMS), Case Management Systems, data 

warehouses, Constituent Relationship Management (CRM) and other 

data-base approaches and options 

5. public/private multi-stakeholder projects. 

B. Discuss your expertise in group facilitation, project management of multi-

stakeholder initiatives that engage community members, public agencies, and 

community-based organizations. 

Page 29 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 23 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

C. Discuss your expertise with various state and federal laws mandating vary levels of 

confidentiality as it relates to inter-agency data sharing. Discuss issues related to 

anonymized data, inter-agency MOUs regarding information access, sharing, use, 

and privacy. 

V. Experience with Similar Programs/Projects (5 pages) 

A. Describe any similar past projects including the scope of the project, relevance, 

stakeholders, and a brief summary of the approach and services provided. If 

relevant, indicate any collaborative partners engaged to complete the project. In 

addition, indicate any challenges encountered and how they were addressed. 

B. Describe any similar past projects that involved informal or formal collaboration 

with additional research partners or initiatives. For example, multiple investigators 

around the state of California are studying and evaluating AB 109 and some of these 

initiatives may operate in Contra Costa simultaneous to the project identified in this 

scope of work. Describe past experience collaborating with research partners and 

highlight any lessons applicable to this scope of work.  

VI. Estimated Cost (3 pages) 

A. Outline your cost structure. Include the compensation rates and hours/FTEs of 

proposed personnel.  

B. Estimate the cost for the program and or projects undertaken, if a phased approach 

is utilized. Tie costs to anticipated phases or milestones. 

C. If you anticipate using subcontractors or partners, explain the proposed scope and 

costs anticipated for their services. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 30 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 24 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS #1307-026 

 

DATA COLLECTION AND PROGRAM EVALUATION SERVICES  

FOR AB 109 PROGRAM 

 

 

Response Review and Selection 
  

Page 31 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 25 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

RESPONSE REVIEW AND SELECTION 
 

 

 

 

All responses submitted in compliance with the RFQ requirements will be eligible for review and 

selection.   

 

Response Selection Methodology:  

 

A. CAO staff will review each response's adherence to RFQ specifications, including: 

 

 Response Cover Statement 

 Response Narrative 

 Agency Information (including required attachments) 

 

1. All responses deemed responsive will be referred to the RFQ Review Panel.  

 

B. The panel will be composed of the Chief Probation Officer or his designee, CAO staff, 

the County Reentry Coordinator, a criminal justice research professional, a formerly 

incarcerated person, staff of a department engaged in data collection efforts and a 

Community Advisory Board member.  Members of the Review Panel will be required to 

sign an impartiality statement. 

 

C. The Review Panel will review all qualified responses and evaluate and score all service 

elements utilizing the evaluation criteria outlined on page 27. 

 

D. The Public Protection Committee will make recommendations for contract awards to the 

Board of Supervisors after considering the recommendations of the Review Panel.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 32 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 26 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

 

 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS #1307-026 

 

DATA COLLECTION AND PROGRAM EVALUATION SERVICES  

FOR AB 109 PROGRAM 

 

 

Evaluation Process/Rating Sheet 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 33 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 27 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

 

RATING SHEET 

 

Program elements will be weighted as follows with a maximum score of 100: 

 

Program Elements and Possible Score 

 

I. Response Cover Statement - required but not weighted  

 

II. Responder Overview   

1. Relevancy of responder’s overall services/history (3 pts.) 

2. Responder’s qualifications as they relate to scope of work (3 pts.) 

3. Overall agency and specified staff with relevant experience and expertise (4 pts.) 

 0-10 

     

III Approach to the Scope 

1.    Research program design/methodology (15 pts.) 

2.    Program action-steps and timeline for implementation (15 pts.) 

3     Collaboration with stakeholders and other organizations/Coordination (10 pts.)  

 0-30  

 

IV. Technical Expertise 

 1.  Subject-matter expertise (10 pts.) 

 2.     Expertise in project management, group facilitation (5pts.)  

3. Expertise with data sharing and privacy (5 pts.)                

  0-20 

 

 V.     Responder’s Experience with Similar Projects                              

Relevance of responder's current or past experience and demonstrated  

ability of applicant to deliver specified services.                                                       0-20 

 

VI. Cost Estimate 

 Project costs are reasonable for proposed scope of services. Cost 

 explanations are clear and demonstrate roles of proposed staffing. 0- 20  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Total    100 pts.  

 

 

 

Page 34 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 28 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS # 1307-026 

 

DATA COLLECTION AND PROGRAM EVALUATION SERVICES  

FOR AB 109 PROGRAM 

 

 

 

Required Attachments and Responder Checklist 
  

Page 35 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 29 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

 REQUIRED ATTACHMENTS & RESPONDER CHECKLIST  

Each respondent must submit a response in the following order with documents as described 

(unless otherwise noted).  Duplicate enclosed forms as necessary. 

 A. Response Cover Statement (Form #1) attached as cover to each response 

 B.  Table of Contents 

 C. Response Narrative  

 D. Curriculum Vitae/Resumes of key  staff 

 E. Responder's Statement of Qualifications (Form #2), completed and signed by an 

Authorized Representative such as the Executive Director. (Form #2 with original 

signatures must accompany original response.) 

 F. Responder's Contracts and Grants (Form #3), completed and signed by an Authorized 

Representative such as the Executive Director. (Form #3 with original signatures must 

accompany original response.) 

 G.  Responders Conference RSVP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 36 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 30 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

 

 

 

 

 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS #1307-026 

 

DATA COLLECTION AND PROGRAM EVALUATION SERVICES  

FOR AB 109 PROGRAM 

 

FORM 1 
 

 

Response Cover Statement 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 37 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 31 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

FORM 1 

 

RESPONSE COVER STATEMENT 

 

DATA COLLECTION AND PROGRAM EVALUATION SERVICES FOR AB 109 PROGRAM 

 

Responder ____________________________________________________________  

Business 

Address________________________________________________________________  

 

Phone_______________  email:_____________         Year Founded________ 

 

Contact Person & Title___________________________________________________ 

 

501(c)3 ___ yes  Exemption Expiration Date                   

             ___ no   Other (explain):________________________________________ 

 

Federal Employer Number:                                              

 

List Collaborative Partners, if applicable:  

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

We submit the attached response and attachments in response to Contra Costa County’s Request 

for Qualifications #1307-026dated August 14, 2013, and declare that: 

 

If the Board of Supervisors of Contra Costa County accepts this response, we 

will enter into a standard contract with Contra Costa County to provide all 

work specified herein as proposed or in accordance with modifications required 

by Contra Costa County.  Funds obtained through this contract will not be used 

for other programs operated by the responder/contractor unless stipulated 

within the response and accepted by the County. 
 

Authorized representatives: (two signatures required) 
 

Name:_____________________________________________ Date:___________ 

 

Signature:__________________________________________            

  Executive Director (or equivalent) 

 

Name:______________________________________________   

 

Signature:________________________________________           Date:___________ 

  Board President (or equivalent) 

 

This form must accompany the response package when submitted and should be attached to each 

copy. Only one copy with original signatures is required.   

Page 38 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 32 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

 

 

 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS #1307-026 

 

DATA COLLECTION AND PROGRAM EVALUATION SERVICES  

FOR AB 109 PROGRAM 

 

FORM 2 
 

 

Responder’s Statement of Qualifications 
 

  

Page 39 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 33 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

FORM #2 
 

RESPONDER'S STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS 
 

1. List any licenses or certifications held by the responder, with expiration dates. 

 

 

 

2 (a) Who administers your fiscal system? 

 

Name: 

 

Phone: 

 

Title:  

 

Work Schedule: 

 

(b) What CPA firm maintains or reviews your financial records and annual audit,  

      if applicable? 

 

Name: 

 

Phone:     Address:  

 

 

 

3.        Number of years responder operated under the present business name. ____ 

           List related prior business names, if any, and timeframe for each. 

 

 

 

4. Number of years responder has provided the services described in this response or related 

services. ____   

  

5. Has responder failed or refused to complete any contract?   Yes   No 

If yes, briefly explain: 

 

 

6. Is there any past, present, or pending litigation in connection with contracts for services 

involving the responder or any principal officer of the agency? Yes   No     

If yes, briefly explain. 

  

Page 40 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 34 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

 

FORM #2, CONTINUED 
 

 

7.  Does responder have a controlling interest in any other firm(s)?   Yes  No 

  If yes, please list below. 

 

 

 

 

8. Does responder have commitments or potential commitments that may impact assets, 

lines of credit or otherwise affect agency's ability to fulfill this RFQ?       Yes  No 

If yes, specify below.                          

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Responder attests, under penalty of perjury, that all information provided herein is complete and 

accurate.  Responder agrees to provide to County other information the County may request as 

necessary for an accurate determination of responder's qualifications to perform proposed 

services. 

 

_____________________________________________________     ______________ 

Name and Title    

   

            Date 

(Executive Director or equivalent) 

 

_____________________________________________________     ______________ 

Name and Title    

   

            Date 

(Board President or equivalent) 

 

 

 

 

Note: When more than one agency will collaborate in providing services(s), each agency 

involved must complete this form. 

 

 

Page 41 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 35 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

 

 

 

 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS #1307-026 

 

DATA COLLECTION AND PROGRAM EVALUATION SERVICES  

FOR AB 109 PROGRAM 

 

FORM 3 
 

 

Contracts and Grants 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 42 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 36 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

FORM #3 
 

CONTRACTS AND GRANTS 
 

 

1. List current contracts and subcontracts including government contracts and/or grants: 

 

Contact Name/Phone #                 Services Provided                  Contract 

 of Contractor/Grantor                     Under Contract                  Dates    

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. List key contracts/grants completed in the last five years, including government 

contracts/grants:   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. Responder agrees to allow County to contact contractors for information relative to 

responder's performance.  (Sign below) 

 

 

 

 

 

______________________________________________________     ________ 

Name and Title           Date 

(Executive Director or equivalent) 

 

_____________________________________________________  ______________ 

Name and Title Date 

(Board President or equivalent) 

 

Note: When more than one agency will collaborate in providing services(s), each agency 

involved must complete this form. 
  

Page 43 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 37 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

RE: Attendance of Responders Conference for RFQ #1307-026 

 

Responders Conference RSVP Form 
 

 

To: Lara DeLaney, Interim Senior Deputy County Administrator 

County Administrator’s Office 

Attention: RFQ #XXX-XXX 

Lara.delaney@cao.cccounty.us 

 

 

 

 I/we plan to participate in the Responders Conference:  

 

 

 

 

Name:   _____________________________________________ 

 

Organization:  _____________________________________________ 

 

E-mail Address: _____________________________________________ 

 

 

Phone:   _____________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Please return the completed form to the above email address by 5:00 pm, Tuesday, August 20, 

2013. 

 

 

  

 

Page 44 of 82

mailto:Lara.delaney@cao.cccounty.us


 

7/25/13 Page 38 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS #1307-026 

 

DATA COLLECTION AND PROGRAM EVALUATION SERVICES  

FOR AB 109 PROGRAM 

 

 

County Contract Requirements 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 45 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 39 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

 

COUNTY CONTRACT REQUIREMENTS 

 

Upon acceptance of a response and award of a contract by the Board of Supervisors, the 

successful responder will enter into a standard County contract that specifies: 

 

1. Parties to the Contract 

 

2. Effective Dates 

 

3. Legal Authority 

 

4. Signatories to the Contract 

 

5. Service Specifications and Provisions for Reporting, Monitoring, and Evaluation 

 

6. Fiscal Provisions 

 

a. Method of payment to contractor.  Either a fee-for-services contract or a cost 

reimbursement contract may be negotiated with responder at County's option. 

 

b. Program budget segregated into personnel and operating costs, indirect costs and 

revenue (if any) to allow determination of reasonableness and allocability of line 

items. 

 

c. Provisions for audit. 

 

7. General Conditions 

Contractors must comply with standard County Contract General Conditions, which are 

included below. 

 

8. Special Conditions, as required.  

Contractors may have to satisfy additional insurance requirements prior to contract 

effective date. No contractor will be reimbursed for service until insurance requirements 

are met. 

 

  

Page 46 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 40 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS #1307-026 

 

DATA COLLECTION AND PROGRAM EVALUATION SERVICES  

FOR AB 109 PROGRAM 

 

 

 

Contract General Conditions 
  

Page 47 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 41 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

 

General Conditions 

 

 

1. Compliance with Law.  Contractor shall be subject to and comply with all applicable 

federal, state and local laws and regulations with respect to its performance under this Contract, 

including but not limited to, licensing, employment and purchasing practices; and wages, hours 

and conditions of employment, including nondiscrimination. 

 

2. Inspection.  Contractor's performance, place of business and records pertaining to this 

Contract are subject to monitoring, inspection, review and audit by authorized representatives of 

the County, the State of California, and the United States Government. 

 

3. Records.  Contractor shall keep and make available for inspection and copying by 

authorized representatives of the County, the State of California, and the United States 

Government, the Contractor's regular business records and such additional records pertaining to 

this Contract as may be required by the County. 

   

 a.     Retention of Records.  Contractor shall retain all documents pertaining to this 

Contract for five years from the date of submission of Contractor's final payment demand or 

final Cost Report; for any further period that is required by law; and until all federal/state 

audits are complete and exceptions resolved for this contract's funding period.  Upon 

request, Contractor shall make these records available to authorized representatives of the 

County, the State of California, and the United States Government. 

 

 b.     Access to Books and Records of Contractor, Subcontractor.  Pursuant to Section 

1861(v)(1) of the Social Security Act, and any regulations promulgated thereunder, 

Contractor shall, upon written request and until the expiration of four years after the 

furnishing of services pursuant to this Contract, make available to the County, the Secretary 

of Health and Human Services, or the Comptroller General, or any of their duly authorized 

representatives, this Contract and books, documents, and records of Contractor necessary to 

certify the nature and extent of all costs and charges hereunder. 

 

 Further, if Contractor carries out any of the duties of this Contract through a subcontract 

with a value or cost of $10,000 or more over a twelve-month period, such subcontract shall 

contain a clause to the effect that upon written request and until the expiration of four years 

after the furnishing of services pursuant to such subcontract, the subcontractor shall make 

available to the County, the Secretary, the Comptroller General, or any of their duly 

authorized representatives, the subcontract and books, documents, and records of the 

subcontractor necessary to verify the nature and extent of all costs and charges thereunder. 

 

Page 48 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 42 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

 This special condition is in addition to any and all other terms regarding the maintenance or 

retention of records under this Contract and is binding on the heirs, successors, assigns and 

representatives of Contractor. 

 

4. Reporting Requirements.  Pursuant to Government Code Section 7550, Contractor shall 

include in all documents or written reports completed and submitted to County in accordance 

with this Contract, a separate section listing the numbers and dollar amounts of all contracts and 

subcontracts relating to the preparation of each such document or written report.  This section 

shall apply only if the payment limit under this Contract exceeds $5,000. 

 

5. Termination and Cancellation.   

 

a.     Written Notice.  This Contract may be terminated by either party, in its sole discretion, 

upon thirty-day advance written notice thereof to the other, and may be cancelled 

immediately by written mutual consent. 

 

b.     Failure to Perform.  County, upon written notice to Contractor, may immediately 

terminate this Contract should Contractor fail to perform properly any of its obligations 

hereunder.  In the event of such termination, County may proceed with the work in any 

reasonable manner it chooses.  The cost to County of completing Contractor's performance 

shall be deducted from any sum due Contractor under this Contract, without prejudice to 

County's rights to recover damages. 

 

c.     Cessation of Funding.  Notwithstanding Paragraph 5.a. above, in the event that 

federal, state, or other non-County funding for this Contract ceases, this Contract is 

terminated without notice. 

 

6. Entire Agreement.  This Contract contains all the terms and conditions agreed upon by the 

parties.  Except as expressly provided herein, no other understanding, oral or otherwise, 

regarding the subject matter of this Contract shall be deemed to exist or to bind any of the parties 

hereto. 

 

7. Further Specifications for Operating Procedures.  Detailed specifications of operating 

procedures and budgets required by this Contract, including but not limited to, monitoring, 

evaluating, auditing, billing, or regulatory changes, may be developed and set forth in a written 

Informal Agreement between Contractor and County.  Informal Agreements shall be designated 

as such and shall not be amendments to this Contract except to the extent that they further detail 

or clarify that which is already required hereunder.  Informal Agreements may not enlarge in any 

manner the scope of this Contract, including any sums of money to be paid Contractor as 

provided herein.  Informal Agreements may be approved and signed by the head of the county 

department for which this Contract is made or its designee. 

 

Page 49 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 43 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

8. Modifications and Amendments. 

 

 a.     General Amendments.  This Contract may be modified or amended by a written 

document executed by  Contractor and the Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors or, 

after Board approval, by its designee, subject to any required state or federal approval. 

 

 b.     Administrative Amendments.  Subject to the Payment Limit, the Payment Provisions 

and the Service Plan may be amended by a written administrative amendment executed by 

Contractor and the County Administrator (or designee), subject to any required state or 

federal approval, provided that such administrative amendment may not materially change 

the Payment Provisions or the Service Plan. 

 

9. Disputes.  Disagreements between County and Contractor concerning the meaning, 

requirements, or performance of this Contract shall be subject to final written determination by 

the head of the county department for which this Contract is made, or his designee, or in 

accordance with the applicable procedures (if any) required by the state or federal government. 

 

10. Choice of Law and Personal Jurisdiction. 

 

 a.     This Contract is made in Contra Costa County and shall be governed and construed in 

accordance with the laws of the State of California. 

 

 b.     Any action relating to this Contract shall be instituted and prosecuted in the courts of 

Contra Costa County, State of California. 

 

11. Conformance with Federal and State Regulations and Laws.  Should federal or state 

regulations or laws touching upon the subject of this Contract be adopted or revised during the 

term hereof, this Contract shall be deemed amended to assure conformance with such federal or 

state requirements.  

 

12. No Waiver by County.  Subject to Paragraph 9. (Disputes) of these General Conditions, 

inspections or approvals, or statements by any officer, agent or employee of County indicating 

Contractor's performance or any part thereof complies with the requirements of this Contract, or 

acceptance of the whole or any part of said performance, or payments therefore, or any 

combination of these acts, shall not relieve Contractor's obligation to fulfill this Contract as 

prescribed; nor shall the County be thereby estopped from bringing any action for damages or 

enforcement arising from any failure to comply with any of the terms and conditions of this 

Contract. 

 

13. Subcontract and Assignment.  This Contract binds the heirs, successors, assigns and 

representatives of Contractor.  Prior written consent of the County Administrator or his designee, 

Page 50 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 44 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

subject to any required state or federal approval, is required before the Contractor may enter into 

subcontracts for any work contemplated under this Contract, or before the Contractor may assign 

this Contract or monies due or to become due, by operation of law or otherwise. 

 

14. Independent Contractor Status.  This Contract is by and between two independent 

contractors and is not intended to and shall not be construed to create the relationship between 

the parties of agent, servant, employee, partnership, joint venture or association. 

 

15. Conflicts of Interest.  Contractor, its officers, partners, associates, agents, and employees, 

shall not make, participate in making, or in any way attempt to use the position afforded them by 

this Contract to influence any governmental decision in which they know or have reason to know 

they have a financial interest under California Government Code Sections 87100, et seq., or 

otherwise. 

 

16. Confidentiality.  Contractor agrees to comply and to require its officers, partners, 

associates, agents and employees to comply with all applicable state or federal statutes or 

regulations respecting confidentiality, including but not limited to, the identity of persons served 

under this Contract, their records, or services provided them, and assures that: 

 

 a.     All applications and records concerning any individual made or kept by Contractor or 

any public officer or agency in connection with the administration of or relating to services 

provided under this Contract will be confidential, and will not be open to examination for 

any purpose not directly connected with the administration of such service. 

 

b.     No person will publish or disclose or permit or cause to be published or disclosed, any 

list of persons receiving services, except as may be required in the administration of such 

service.  Contractor agrees to inform all employees, agents and partners of the above 

provisions, and that any person knowingly and intentionally disclosing such information 

other than as authorized by law may be guilty of a misdemeanor. 

 

17. Nondiscriminatory Services.  Contractor agrees that all goods and services under this 

Contract shall be available to all qualified persons regardless of age, sex, race, religion, color, 

national origin, ethnic background, disability, or sexual orientation, and that none shall be used, 

in whole or in part, for religious worship or instruction. 

 

18. Indemnification.  Contractor shall defend, indemnify, save, and hold harmless County and 

its officers and employees from any and all claims, costs and liability for any damages, sickness, 

death, or injury to person(s) or property, including without limitation all consequential damages, 

from any cause whatsoever arising directly or indirectly from or connected with the operations or 

services of Contractor or its agents, servants, employees or subcontractors hereunder, save and 

except claims or litigation arising through the sole negligence or sole willful misconduct of 

Page 51 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 45 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

County or its officers or employees.  Contractor will reimburse County for any expenditure, 

including reasonable attorneys' fees, County may make by reason of the matters that are the 

subject of this indemnification, and, if requested by County, will defend any claims or litigation 

to which this indemnification provision applies at the sole cost and expense of Contractor. 

 

19. Insurance.  During the entire term of this Contract and any extension or modification 

thereof, Contractor shall keep in effect insurance policies meeting the following insurance 

requirements unless otherwise expressed in the Special Conditions: 

 

a.     Liability Insurance.  For all contracts where the total payment limit of the contract is 

$500,000 or less, Contractor shall provide comprehensive liability insurance, including 

coverage for owned and non-owned automobiles, with a minimum combined single limit 

coverage of $500,000 for all damages, including consequential damages, due to bodily 

injury, sickness or disease, or death to any person or damage to or destruction of property, 

including the loss of use thereof, arising from each occurrence.  Such insurance shall be 

endorsed to include County and its officers and employees as additional insureds as to all 

services performed by Contractor under this agreement.  Said policies shall constitute 

primary insurance as to County, the state and federal governments, and their officers, 

agents, and employees, so that other insurance policies held by them or their self-insurance 

program(s) shall not be required to contribute to any loss covered under Contractor's 

insurance policy or policies.  For all contracts where the total payment limit is above 

$500,000, the aforementioned insurance coverage to be provided by Contractor shall have a 

minimum combined single limit coverage of $1,000,000, and Contractor shall be required to 

provide County with a copy of the endorsement making the County an additional insured on 

all general liability, worker’s compensation, and, if applicable, all professional liability 

insurance policies as required herein no later than the effective date of this Contract. 

 

 b.     Workers' Compensation.  Contractor shall provide workers' compensation insurance 

coverage for its employees. 

 

 c.      Certificate of Insurance.  The Contractor shall provide the County with (a) 

certificate(s) of insurance evidencing liability and worker's compensation insurance as 

required herein no later than the effective date of this Contract.  If the Contractor should 

renew the insurance policy(ies) or acquire either a new insurance policy(ies) or amend the 

coverage afforded through an endorsement to the policy at any time during the term of this 

Contract, then Contractor shall provide (a) current certificate(s) of insurance. 

 

 d.    Additional Insurance Provisions.  The insurance policies provided by Contractor shall 

include a provision for thirty (30) days written notice to County before cancellation or 

material change of the above specified coverage. 

 

Page 52 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 46 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

20. Notices.  All notices provided for by this Contract shall be in writing and may be delivered 

by deposit in the United States mail, postage prepaid.  Notices to County shall be addressed to 

the head of the county department for which this Contract is made.  Notices to Contractor shall 

be addressed to the Contractor's address designated herein.  The effective date of notice shall be 

the date of deposit in the mails or of other delivery, except that the effective date of notice to 

County shall be the date of receipt by the head of the county department for which this Contract 

is made. 

 

21. Primacy of General Conditions.  Except for Special Conditions which expressly supersede 

General Conditions, the Special Conditions (if any) and Service Plan do not limit any term of the 

General Conditions. 

 

22. Nonrenewal.  Contractor understands and agrees that there is no representation, implication, 

or understanding that the services provided by Contractor under this Contract will be purchased 

by County under a new contract following expiration or termination of this Contract, and waives 

all rights or claims to notice or hearing respecting any failure to continue purchasing all or any 

such services from Contractor. 

 

23. Possessory Interest.  If this Contract results in Contractor having possession of, claim or 

right to the possession of land or improvements, but does not vest ownership of the land or 

improvements in the same person, or if this Contract results in the placement of taxable 

improvements on tax exempt land (Revenue & Taxation Code Section 107), such interest or 

improvements may represent a possessory interest subject to property tax, and Contractor may be 

subject to the payment of property taxes levied on such interest.  Contractor agrees that this 

provision complies with the notice requirements of Revenue & Taxation Code Section 107.6, 

and waives all rights to further notice or to damages under that or any comparable statute. 

 

24. No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  Notwithstanding mutual recognition that services under 

this Contract may provide some aid or assistance to members of the County's population, it is not 

the intention of either County or Contractor that such individuals occupy the position of intended 

third-party beneficiaries of the obligations assumed by either party to this Contract. 

 

25. Copyrights and Rights in Data.  Contractor shall not publish or transfer any materials 

produced or resulting from activities supported by this agreement without the express written 

consent of the County Administrator.  If any material is subject to copyright, County reserves the 

right to copyright, and Contractor agrees not to copyright, such material.  If the material is 

copyrighted, County reserves a royalty-free, nonexclusive, and irrevocable license to reproduce, 

publish, and use such materials, in whole or in part, and to authorize others to do so. 

 

26. Endorsements.  Contractor shall not in its capacity as a contractor with Contra Costa 

County publicly endorse or oppose the use of any particular brand name or commercial product 

Page 53 of 82



 

7/25/13 Page 47 of 47 Draft RFQ 
 

without the prior approval of the Board of Supervisors.  In its County contractor capacity, 

Contractor shall not publicly attribute qualities or lack of qualities to a particular brand name or 

commercial product in the absence of a well-established and widely accepted scientific basis for 

such claims or without the prior approval of the Board of Supervisors.  In its County contractor 

capacity, Contractor shall not participate or appear in any commercially produced advertisements 

designed to promote a particular brand name or commercial product, even if Contractor is not 

publicly endorsing a product, as long as the Contractor's presence in the advertisement can 

reasonably be interpreted as an endorsement of the product by or on behalf of Contra Costa 

County.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Contractor may express its views on products to other 

contractors, the Board of Supervisors, County officers, or others who may be authorized by the 

Board of Supervisors or by law to receive such views. 

      

27.   Required Audit.  (A) If Contractor is funded by $500,000 or more in federal grant funds in 

any fiscal year ending after December 31, 2003 from any source, Contractor shall provide to 

County at Contractor's expense an audit conforming to the requirements set forth in the most 

current version of Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133.  (B) If Contractor is 

funded by less than $500,000 in federal grant funds in any fiscal year ending after December 31, 

2003 from any source, but such grant imposes specific audit requirements; Contractor shall 

provide to County an audit conforming to those requirements.  (C) If Contractor is funded by less 

than $500,000 in federal grant funds in any fiscal year ending after December 31, 2003 from any 

source, Contractor is exempt from federal audit requirements for that year, however, Contractor's 

records must be available for and an audit may be required by, appropriate officials of the federal 

awarding agency, the General Accounting Office (GAO), the pass-through entity and/or the 

County.  If any such audit is required, Contractor shall provide County with such audit.  With 

respect to the audits specified in (A), (B) and (C) above, Contractor is solely responsible for 

arranging for the conduct of the audit, and for its cost.  County may withhold the estimated cost 

of the audit or 10 percent of the contract amount, whichever is larger, or the final payment, from 

Contractor until County receives the audit from Contractor. 

 

28.  Authorization.  Contractor, or the representative(s) signing this Contract on behalf of 

Contractor, represents and warrants that it has full power and authority to enter into this Contract 

and perform the obligations herein. 

 
 

Page 54 of 82



PPC Packet 8/12/2013 
Item 4 

 
2013 PUBLIC PROTECTION COMMITTEE 

 
REVIEW PROPOSED IMPLEMENTATION PLAN FOR PRE-TRIAL SERVICES IN 
CONTRA COSTA COUNTY FOR INMATES ACCUSED OF AND DETAINED FOR 

CERTAIN LAW VIOLATIONS 
 
The California Legislature passed the Public Safety Realignment Act (Assembly Bill 
109), which transferred responsibility for supervising certain lower-level inmates and 
parolees from the California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation (CDCR) to 
counties. Assembly Bill 109 (AB 109) took effect on October 1, 2011 and realigned 
three major areas of the criminal justice system. On a prospective basis, the legislation: 
 
• Transferred the location of incarceration for lower-level offenders (specified nonviolent, 
non-serious, non-sex offenders) from state prison to local county jail and provides for an 
expanded role for post-release supervision for these offenders; 
 
• Transferred responsibility for post-release supervision of lower-level offenders (those 
released from prison after having served a sentence for a non-violent, non-serious, and 
non-sex offense) from the state to the county level by creating a new category of 
supervision called Post-Release Community Supervision (PRCS); 
 
• Transferred the custody responsibility for parole and PRCS revocations to local jail, 
administered by county sheriffs 
 
On May 21, 2013, the Board of Supervisors approved the 2013/14 AB109 budget as 
recommended by the Public Protection Committee, including a reserved amount of 
$900,000 for pre-trial services. 
 
On August 2, 2013, the Community Corrections Partnership-Executive Committee 
approved a plan to implement the pre-trial services component of the 2013/14 AB109 
budget to be housed in the Probation Department. 
 
 
August 12, 2013 
 
Attached is the staff report and draft budget as approved by the Community Corrections 
Partnership-Executive Committee for review and approval by the Committee. 
 
County Probation Officer Phil Kader will present the implementation plan and structure 
to the Committee at today’s meeting and will be available to answer questions that the 
Committee may have. 
 
 
 

Page 55 of 82



Contra Costa County Pretrial Program Update 

for August 2, 2013 CCP Meeting 
 

1 
 

The Contra Costa County Pretrial Committee, which includes representatives from the Superior 
Court, Probation, District Attorney, Public Defender, Sheriff’s Office and Behavioral Health, 
began meeting in March 2013 to plan and develop protocols for implementation of the Pretrial 
Program. A smaller work group consisting of representatives from the Probation, DA and Public 
Defender offices was convened in June 2013 to work on implementation details. To date, the 
Committee has discussed several program elements outlined below. 

To foster cohesion and enhance understanding of pretrial concepts, the Pretrial Committee 
recommends targeted trainings by national pretrial experts for the judicial officers and assigned 
probation staff, along with general trainings for the staff of the County Criminal Justice partner 
agencies and the community at large. The Crime and Justice Institute (CJI) at Community 
Resources for Justice in partnership with the Pretrial Justice Institute (PJI) have already 
provided invaluable technical assistance to the planning effort. The Committee has also 
consulted with pretrial program staff in Santa Cruz, Santa Clara, and Fresno Counties. 

The proposed components of the Contra Costa County pretrial program include: 

• Staffing to implement the program will include five (5) Deputy Probation Officers and 
one (1) clerk to perform the assessment and prepare recommendations/reports for the 
court. Probation supervision will occur in collaboration with the Sheriff Office’s 
electronic detention unit.  (See attached FY2013‐14 Pre‐Trial Budget and Appendix A) 

• Assessment in the jail after the individual is booked into custody, prior to arraignment 
utilizing the Virginia Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument (VPRAI), a nationally 
recognized, automated, open source tool. 

• VPRAI is an empirically validated, objective risk assessment tool to determine impact on 
public safety and likelihood of court appearance. VPRAI is designed for use post‐arrest 
for individuals that meet the following minimum eligibility requirements. (Eligibility 
criteria will be agreed upon prior to implementation.) 

o The defendant must be an adult‐ 18 years or older or a juvenile previously 
certified as an adult by the court. 

o The defendant must have been arrested for a criminal, jailable offense(s)‐ 
misdemeanor or felony. 

 The work group has proposed an initial focus on felony theft and drug 
filings based upon booking data from April 2013 reviewed by the work 
group. 

o The VPRAI calculates a level of risk based upon eight (8) risk factors. 
1. Charge type‐ misdemeanor or felony 
2. Pending charge(s)‐ any other charges pending at time of the arrest 

Page 56 of 82



2 
 

3. Criminal history‐ any prior convictions for a jailable offense 
4. Two or more failures to appear‐ failure to appear at any court 

appearance, or arrest for failure to appear 
5. Two or more violent convictions‐ as defined by Cal. Penal Code § 667. 
6. Length of current residence less than one year and whether or not 

residence was verified by a reference or secondary source 
7. Employed consistently (at least part time) or primary caregiver during 

two (2) years prior to arrest 
8. History of drug abuse 

•  In addition to own recognizance (O.R.) and no release recommendations, the 
assessment may indicate that supervised release with or without conditions is advised. 
Conditions may include drug and alcohol testing, stay away orders, and participation in 
treatment or services. 

o Electronic detention monitoring using GPS ankle bracelets may be utilized as part 
of supervised release.  

Next Steps for the Pretrial Work Group and Committee 

The Pretrial Committee and Work Group will provide future updates to the CCP on the 
completion of the following tasks.  

• Establishing the template for Pretrial Court Reports and working with a consultant to 
create the database to be used for case management and tracking that will enable staff 
to generate court reports and performance measurement reports 

• Discussion and vetting of a Level of Supervision Matrix that will determine which 
recommendation is appropriate for specified risk scores 

•  Developing proposed court forms to document conditions of release for consideration 
and adoption by the Superior Court 

• Determining jail access and space availability for Probation staff to interview individuals 
while in custody 

• Working with CJI and PJI staff to schedule trainings described above 
• Collection of data that will allow for future development of a custom tool based on 

characteristics and risk factors specific to the Contra Costa County’s pretrial population 
in partnership with PJI and CJI 

 

Page 57 of 82



Budget Category FTE
FY13/14 

Proposed 
Budget 

Comments

Annual Salary & Benefit Costs
Deputy Probation Officer III 5.0     752,555$      Avg S&B of DPO III
Clerk (1) 1.0     77,076          Avg S&B D-Clerk

Total Salary & Benefit Costs 829,631$      

Operating Costs:
Specialized Training/Evaluator 10,000$        
Toyota Camry Hybrid 53,850$        2 vehicles

Total Operating Costs 63,850$        

One Time Costs
Laptops (5) 6,000$          $1200 per unit
VPN (5) 400$             $80 per unit
Total Equipment 6,400$          

Total 899,881$     

FY13/14 Estimated Pre-Trial Budget

Page 58 of 82



Budget Category
 FY13/14 
Proposed 

Budget 
Comments

Risk Assessment 118,000$      

One-time expenditure for implementation of risk assessment tool, 
training for all staff and stakeholders (including community partners) 
and validation study to ensure proper development and possible 
expansion of the risk assessment tool.

Total 118,000$      

Appendix A
FY13/14 Estimated Pre-Trial Budget

Page 59 of 82



PPC Packet 8/12/2013 
Item 5 

 
2013 PUBLIC PROTECTION COMMITTEE 

 
REPORT FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SHERIFF ON THE  

INMATE WELFARE FUND AND INMATE VISITATION POLICIES 
 
On July 16, 2013, the Board of Supervisors referred a review of the Inmate Welfare 
Fund (IWF) and inmate visitation policies to the Public Protection Committee for review. 
The Inmate Welfare Fund is authorized by Penal Code § 4025 for the “…benefit, 
education, and welfare of the inmates confined within the jail.” The statute also 
mandates that an itemized accounting of IWF expenditures must be submitted annually 
to the County Board of Supervisors. 
 
 
August 12, 2013 
 
Attached for reference by the Committee are the following documents: 
 

1. Referral from the Board of Supervisors to the Public Protection Committee 
regarding this issue 

2. Text of Penal Code § 4025 regarding Inmate Welfare Funds 
3. Fiscal Year 2011/12 Inmate Welfare Fund Annual Report to the Board of 

Supervisors 
 
Assistant Sheriff Matthew Schuler will present a report on the Inmate Welfare Fund to 
the Committee at today’s meeting and will be available to answer questions that the 
Committee may have. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 60 of 82



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

REFER to the Public Protection Committee the matter of visitation and communication with inmates residing in

County adult detention facilities. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

No fiscal impact. 

BACKGROUND: 

The County has several policies regarding communication and visitation with inmates residing in adult detention

facilities. The this referral would enable the Public Protection Committee to review these issues as a policy matter

including any contracts or programs in place to enact those policies. This would include, but is not limited to,

contracts with third-party communication service providers and programming provided by County Inmate Welfare

Fund.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION: 

This matter will not be referred to the Committee for review and discussion.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT: 

No impact. 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   07/16/2013 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES 5 NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Timothy Ewell,

925-335-1036

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    July  16, 2013 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: June McHuen, Deputy

cc:

C. 84

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Supervisor John Gioia, District I

Date: July  16, 2013

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: REFERRAL TO THE PUBLIC PROTECTION COMMITTEE ON THE MATTER OF VISITATION/COMMUNICATION
WITH INMATES IN THE ADULT DETENTION FACILITIES 

Page 61 of 82



PENAL CODE - PEN 

   

   
 
CHAPTER 1. County Jails [4000. - 4030.]  ( Heading of Chapter 1 added by Stats. 1957, Ch. 50. )   

4025.  (a) The sheriff of each county may establish, maintain and operate a store in connection with the county jail and for 
this purpose may purchase confectionery, tobacco and tobacco users’ supplies, postage and writing materials, and toilet 
articles and supplies and sell these goods, articles, and supplies for cash to inmates in the jail. 

(b) The sale prices of the articles offered for sale at the store shall be fixed by the sheriff. Any profit shall be deposited 
in an inmate welfare fund to be kept in the treasury of the county. 

(c) There shall also be deposited in the inmate welfare fund 10 percent of all gross sales of inmate hobbycraft. 

(d) There shall be deposited in the inmate welfare fund any money, refund, rebate, or commission received from a 
telephone company or pay telephone provider when the money, refund, rebate, or commission is attributable to the use 
of pay telephones which are primarily used by inmates while incarcerated. 

(e) The money and property deposited in the inmate welfare fund shall be expended by the sheriff primarily for the 
benefit, education, and welfare of the inmates confined within the jail. Any funds that are not needed for the welfare of 
the inmates may be expended for the maintenance of county jail facilities. Maintenance of county jail facilities may 
include, but is not limited to, the salary and benefits of personnel used in the programs to benefit the inmates, including, 
but not limited to, education, drug and alcohol treatment, welfare, library, accounting, and other programs deemed 
appropriate by the sheriff. Inmate welfare funds shall not be used to pay required county expenses of confining inmates 
in a local detention system, such as meals, clothing, housing, or medical services or expenses, except that inmate 
welfare funds may be used to augment those required county expenses as determined by the sheriff to be in the best 
interests of inmates. An itemized report of these expenditures shall be submitted annually to the board of supervisors. 

(f) The operation of a store within any other county adult detention facility which is not under the jurisdiction of the 
sheriff shall be governed by the provisions of this section, except that the board of supervisors shall designate the 
proper county official to exercise the duties otherwise allocated in this section to the sheriff. 

(g) The operation of a store within any city adult detention facility shall be governed by the provisions of this section, 
except that city officials shall assume the respective duties otherwise outlined in this section for county officials. 

(h) The treasurer may, pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 53600), or Article 2 (commencing with Section 
53630) of Chapter 4 of Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the Government Code, deposit, invest, or reinvest any part of 
the inmate welfare fund, in excess of that which the treasurer deems necessary for immediate use. The interest or 
increment accruing on these funds shall be deposited in the inmate welfare fund. 

(i) The sheriff may expend money from the inmate welfare fund to provide indigent inmates, prior to release from the 
county jail or any other adult detention facility under the jurisdiction of the sheriff, with essential clothing and 
transportation expenses within the county or, at the discretion of the sheriff, transportation to the inmate’s county of 
residence, if the county is within the state or within 500 miles from the county of incarceration. This subdivision does 
not authorize expenditure of money from the inmate welfare fund for the transfer of any inmate to the custody of any 
other law enforcement official or jurisdiction. 

(Amended by Stats. 2007, Ch. 251, Sec. 1. Effective January 1, 2008.)

PART 3. OF IMPRISONMENT AND THE DEATH PENALTY [2000. - 10007.]  ( Part 3 repealed and added 
by Stats. 1941, Ch. 106. )

TITLE 4. COUNTY JAILS, FARMS AND CAMPS [4000. - 4351.]  ( Heading of Title 4 amended by Stats. 
1957, Ch. 50. )

Page 62 of 82



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

ACCEPT the report prepared by the Office of the Sheriff in accordance with Penal Code Section 4025(e) representing

an accounting of all Inmate Welfare Fund receipts and disbursements for Fiscal Year 2011/12. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

None.  This is an informational report.

BACKGROUND: 

Penal Code Section 4025(e) states that money and property deposited in the Inmate Welfare Fund shall be expended

by the Office of the Sheriff-Coroner primarily for the benefit, education, and welfare of the inmates confined within

the jail.  Any funds that are not needed for the welfare of inmates may be expended for the maintenance of county jail

facilities. Maintenance of county jail facilities may include, but is not limited to, the salary and benefits of personnel

used in the programs to benefit the inmates, including but not limited to education, drug and alcohol treatment,

welfare, library, accounting, and other programs deemed appropriate by the Sheriff.  An itemized report of these

expenditures shall be submitted 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   10/23/2012 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES 5 NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Liz Arbuckle, 335-1529

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    October  23, 2012 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: June McHuen, Deputy

cc:

C. 67

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: David O. Livingston, Office of the Sheriff

Date: October  23, 2012

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Accept the Fiscal Year 2011-2012 Inmate Welfare Fund Expenditure Report 

Page 63 of 82



BACKGROUND: (CONT'D)

annually to the Board of Supervisors.

This fund received the majority of its revenues from inmate telephone commissions and commissary sales. The

Director of Inmate Services, working with the public members of the Inmate Welfare Committee, manages the

delivery of professional services, establishes an annual budget and oversees expenditures for the Sheriff.

The Inmate Welfare Fund continues to provide valuable professional, educational, and recreational services to persons

in custody at the Martinez Detention Facility, West County Detention Facility, and the Marsh Creek Detention

Facility.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

Page 64 of 82



Inmate Welfare Fund 
Statement of Receipts, Disbursements, and Fund Balance 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2012 
 

Receipts: 
                                            
 GTL Telephone Commissions    $653,506 
 Canteen Commissions      654,539 
 WCDF Inmate Industries       90,379 
 MCDF Frame Shop          8,010 
 Investment Interest          1,259 
 Miscellaneous                  24,529 
  
 
 Total Receipts      
     $1,432,223 
 
Disbursements: 
 
 Entertainment 
  Purchase of TV’s/VCR’s/DVD’s/Accessories $16,247    
  Satellite TV Service      21,744 
  Inmate Work Crew Refreshments/Treats    17,581 
    Sub-Total                    $55,572       
 Recreation 
  Table/Board Games/Sports Equipment   $ 4,878  
               Sub-Total          $ 4,878      
            
 
 Education and Welfare    
  Bay Area Chaplains Contractual Services          $124,634          
  Office of Education Contractual Services            440,089  
  Library Program               238,646   
  Inmate Legal Services     39,167  
  MCDF Landscape Program    39,283  
  WCDF Inmate Industries              186,094 
  BART and Bus Tickets                           42,935   
  MCDF Frame Shop Program                22,952 
    Sub-Total               $1,133,800 
 
  
 
 
  
  
Personal Care/Hygiene 

Page 65 of 82



  Hair Clippers, Curling Irons, Hair Dryers, 
  Electric Razors, etc.    $18,749   
    Sub-Total                $18,749     
 
 Equipment Maintenance 
  Furniture, Electronic, etc.    $ 8,357   
    Sub-Total                $ 8,357        
 
 Other 
  Staff Salaries/Benefits    $128,083 
  Staff Travel Expenses                                                  1,026 
  Communication              950 
  Office Supplies              114 
  Safety Instruction OT          1,275 
  Public Performance License         2,190 
  Specialized Services & Supplies         6,493          
    Sub-Total                $140,131    
 
 
 Total Disbursements    
        $1,361,487 
 
 
 
Receipts less Disbursements            $     70,736     
 
Cash Reserved for Operating Expenses          $1,338,357  
                
    Total            $1,409,093 
 
  

        
 
 
 
 
    
 

Page 66 of 82



PPC Packet 8/12/2013 
Item 6 

 
2013 PUBLIC PROTECTION COMMITTEE 

 
STATUS UPDATE ON THE EMS SYSTEM STUDY  

CONDUCTED BY FITCH & ASSOCIATES, LLC 
 
On December 11, 2012, the Board of Supervisors directed the EMS Agency and the 
County Administrator’s Office to coordinate an independent EMS System re-evaluation 
in conjunction with a separate Fire Service Study of Contra Costa County Fire 
Protection District.  The study, composed of two modules, will be conducted by Fitch 
and Associates (“Fitch”).   
 
On February 12th, the Board approved a contract with Fitch and requested periodic 
updates to the full Board of Supervisors, Public Protection Committee and the Contra 
Costa County Fire Protection District Board of Directors.  
 
August 12, 2013 
 
Attached is a staff report from the Emergency Medical Services (EMS) Agency updating 
the Committee on the status of the EMS Agency study. 
 
County EMS Director Pat Frost will present the report to the Committee at today’s 
meeting and will be available to answer questions that the Committee may have. 
 
 

Page 67 of 82



 

Page 1 of 3 

 
TO: Public Protection Committee 

FROM:  

DATE:  

SUBJECT:  

  
SPECIFIC REQUEST(S) OR RECOMMENDATION(S) & BACKGROUND JUSTIFICATION 

Patricia Frost, EMS Director 
 

August 12, 2013  

 EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES (EMS) SYSTEM MODERNIZATION STUDY STATUS REPORT  

 
RECOMMENDATION(S): RECEIVE THE STATUS REPORT ON THE CONTRA COSTA EMS SYSTEM 
MODERNIZATION STUDY. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: NONE 
 

BACKGROUND/REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
On Dec 11th the BOS directed Contra Costa Health Services EMS and the County Administrator’s 
office to coordinate an independent EMS System re-evaluation in conjunction with a separate Fire 
Service Study of Contra Costa Fire Protection District.  The study is being conducted by Fitch & 
Associates.  The Board approved and authorized the Fitch contract on February 12, 2013 and at that 
meeting requested regular reports to the BOS, Public Protection and the Contra Costa Fire Protection 
District Board.  Each study has a separate focus and scope of work supported by two distinct expert 
teams of Fitch & Associates consultants.  The focus of the EMS System study is to evaluate how best to 
modernize and deliver coordinated EMS services within current operational capabilities and fiscal 
resources. The study will cover information on potential strategic efficiencies influencing future 
County-wide EMS service delivery in preparation for a future competitive ambulance RFP (Request for 
Proposal) to be completed by December 31, 2015.  An update on the EMS System study follows. 

 
The EMS Agency is the lead coordination entity facilitating the EMS System Modernization Study.  
The approved EMS system work-plan which takes a “white board” approach and timeline is available 
to the public on the EMS website at http://cchealth.org/ems/system-review.php.   EMS System study 
activities, meetings and supporting reports are posted as available.   
 
Over 130 participants requested to be involved in the study process reflecting strong community and 
stakeholder engagement. Representatives include Community Hospitals, Fire, Ambulance Providers, 
Law, Patient Advocacy Groups, LAFCO, City Managers, Health Plan and Policy Leadership.  
Consultant feedback may also be given via email at cccems@fitchassoc.com	(posted the EMS 
website). Weekly conference calls between EMS and the consultants occur to review study progress 
and project delivery. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 68 of 82



Board Order  
Page 2 of 3 
# 

The following timeline represents a summary of project milestones:  
Date EMS System Study Project Milestones 
12/11/12 Board Order passed for EMS System Study 
2/12/13  Consultant Contract and Scope of Work approved by BOS 
4/23/13 EMS System Stakeholder participation invitations issued 
5/22/13 First Round Consultant and EMS System Stakeholder Interview  
6/17/13 to 6/24/13 Second Round Consultant and EMS System Stakeholder Interview 

6/19/13 Consultant Project Review Update with Emergency Medical Care Committee (EMCC) 
7/29/13 to 8/2/13 Second Round Consultant-EMS Stakeholder Interviews  
8/11/13 EMS System Project Status Report to Public Protection Committee 
9/11/13 EMS System Project Status Update to EMCC 
TBD Report and recommendations to Board of Supervisors 

 
Fitch Consultants have met or had conference calls with the following stakeholders 

Contra Costa Fire Protection District Contra Costa Permitted Ambulance Providers 
San Ramon Fire Protection District Kaiser Health and Medical Center (s) 
Contra Costa Public and Mental Health Council on Aging, HICAP and Citizen Advocates 
East Contra Costa Fire District Contra Costa EMS Administration 
City of Pinole El Cerrito Fire District 
Emergency Medical Care Committee City of Clayton 
LAFCO Alameda and Contra Costa Medical Association 
Contra Costa Health Services and Health Plan Supervisor Mitchoff and Staff 
Rodeo Hercules Fire District Contra Costa Regional Medical Center Leadership 
Supervisor Anderson and Staff California Emergency Physician Group 
American Medical Response Sutter Delta Medical Center 
John Muir Health and Medical Center (s) Pinole Fire District 
Doctor’s Medical Center of San Pablo  Moraga Orinda Fire District 
Supervisor Glover and Staff  Supervisor Gioia and Staff 
Richmond Communications Center Supervisor Piepho and Staff 
San Ramon Regional Medical Center Bay Area Hospital Council 

Page 69 of 82



Board Order  
Page 3 of 3 
# 

Internally the EMS Agency has been working on a number of related activities that will impact the 
study including: 
 Ongoing mitigation  and monitoring of coordinated EMS service delivery in areas affected by 

fire station closures 
 Modification of Measure H funding to support fire first responder agencies regardless of EMS 

provider service level. 
 Review of CCFPD EMS dispatch and deployment to preserve fire operational resources. 
 Drafted updated county ambulance ordinance in review with county counsel.  
 Compiling countywide EMS system quality and utilization data to support the study  

 
 

CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION: 
Report not received 

 

CHILDREN’S IMPACT STATEMENT:  
None   

 

 Signature:   

District I    District II    District III    District IV    District V    All Districts  

Page 70 of 82



 

 

 

 

   

This is an EMS System response report for 
the communities of Clayton, Lafayette, 
Martinez and Walnut Creek.  Each 
community experienced a fire station 
closure on January 15, 2013. 

The	Contra	Costa	
EMS	System	and	
Fire	Station	
Closures:	Impact	
and	Mitigation	
A	Report	Prepared	by:	Contra	Costa	
County	Emergency	Medical		Services													
August	12,	2013	

 

Page 71 of 82



 

 

Background  

On January 15, 2013 at 0800 the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District (CCCFPD) closed four of its 28 fire 
stations serving the communities of Clayton (Station 11), Lafayette (Station 16), Martinez (Station 12) and Walnut 
Creek (Station 4).  An Emergency Medical Services (EMS) Incident Action Plan was developed in partnership with 
CCCFPD and the County’s contracted 9‐1‐1 ambulance service provider American Medical Response (AMR), to 
mitigate the impact of these changes.  

This report reflects consolidated EMS System response data for the affected communities.  Fire Service delivery 
reports are available through CCFPD.  The Contra Costa County EMS Agency is issuing this report as the local 
authority responsible for the coordinated oversight of the EMS System, contracted 9‐1‐1 ambulance services and 
the practice of pre‐hospital medicine in the field.   

How the EMS Agency Evaluates Local and 
System Impacts 

When medical first response1 capabilities change, the 
EMS Agency reviews the impact based on 
coordination of services in the following areas: 

 System‐wide 
 Emergency Response Zones 
 City Response 
 Patient Response 
 Patient Outcome  
 Time‐to‐definitive care 

 

Fire station closures result in a reduction of first 
medical response capability.  Under its current 

configuration the Contra Costa EMS System is not designed to replace or duplicate first medical response provided 
by fire agencies with ambulance services.   However, collaborative efforts coordinated by EMS in partnership with 
CCCFPD and AMR attempted to reduce the impact of these changes.  The EMS Agency focuses on strategically 
matching patient need with EMS System resources to protect public safety.  Those efforts include: 

Dispatch  Deployment modifications to preserve fire first medical response for the most critical calls

First Medical 
Response 
 

Use ambulance‐only response to locations with trained medical staff available, e.g. clinics
Expand public access (AED) and by‐stander CPR Hands‐only programs 
Expand voluntary law enforcement AED participation 

Ambulance  Modify posting locations for optimal mobile deployment of paramedic ambulances 

Hospital  Expedite transfer of care from ambulance crews to hospital staff within 20 minutes 

                                                            
1 The National Fire Protection Agency (NFPA) defines medical first response as dispatched aided CPR, bystanders trained in CPR 
and AED use, Fire EMS first responders (EMT, Paramedic), Law Enforcement with AEDs. 

Page 72 of 82



 

 

 

 

First Medical Response Time Reports  
 

 The National Fire Protection Agency “goal” for EMS first “medical” response is 8 minutes. 
 The County EMS System response “goal” for paramedic first response is 10 minutes.2 
 Response times reflect coordinated EMS capabilities associated with deployment of community based fire 

stations and ambulance services.   
 The community reports show fire first medical response and ambulance response for each community 

before and after fire station closures.   
 Response time by city is measured from the time the unit is dispatched to the time the unit arrives on 

scene. (This response metric is different than response times used by fire to measure fire service delivery 
based on fire industry standards of cover).   

 The reports represent Code 3 “critical” urban responses (lights and sirens) by city. 
 Interpretation of the data may be limited when small numbers are involved, but becomes more reliable 

over time. 
 City‐based EMS response times may vary from the experience of the community closest to the affected 

fire station.  
 The private ambulance provider deploys ambulance resources to meet contracted response requirements 

by time of day and seasonal variations as part of normal operations. 
 It is normal to see wide response time variations in areas where overall call volume is especially low.   
 Response times are affected during busy times in the EMS system when fire and ambulance resources are 

stretched. 
 9‐1‐1 calls are primarily dispatched Code 3 (lights and sirens) to support rapid medical first response, yet 

only 7‐13% of EMS calls require Code 3 ambulance transports (due to critical patient condition). 
 

                                                            
2 The 10‐minute paramedic response “goal” was established with the EMS system design approved by the Board of Supervisors 
in 2004.   

The Contra Costa EMS 
System continues to 
provide a reliable level of 
pre‐hospital care and 
emergency ambulance 
service throughout the 
county.   

Specialized systems of care 
for Cardiac Arrest, Trauma, 
High Risk Heart Attack 
(STEMI) and Stroke are 
known to save lives and 
reduce injury.   

EMS Systems evaluate 
their effectiveness on time 
to definitive care and 
patient outcome.  

Page 73 of 82



 

 

 

9‐1‐1 calls are routed through a primary PSAP, and then passed through the secondary PSAP and ambulance 
dispatch.  Routing of 9‐1‐1 calls for emergency medical services, determining the appropriate level of first medical 
responders and ambulance and deploying EMS resources typically takes between 102 seconds (1.7 minutes) to 132 
seconds (2.2 minutes). 

County Ambulance Response Zone Requirements 

Contracted Response 
Requirements in  

Minutes 

Code 3 Urban 
(lights and 

sirens) @ 90% 

Code 3 Rural  
(lights and 

sirens) @ 90% 

Code 2 Urban  
(non‐urgent) 

@ 90% 

Code 2 Rural 
(non‐urgent) 

@ 90% 
Emergency Response 

Zone C 
11:45  

Minutes 
20:00  

Minutes 
30:00  

Minutes 
45:00 

Minutes 
 

Cities affected by fire station closures are located in Emergency Response Zone C.  Zone C corresponds to the 
Contra Costa County Fire Protection District first medical response area. The County ambulance contract requires 
American Medical Response to comply a 90% response standard of 11 minutes 45 seconds for all Code 3 (lights 
and sirens) calls.  

Community  9‐1‐1 Ambulance (AMR) Response Performance 
Average Response Times  for Code 3 Urban Responses 

Displayed as minutes: seconds 
2011  2012 

Clayton  10:56  9:16 
Lafayette  9:02  9:04 
Martinez  8:36  8:34 

Walnut Creek  7:53  7:58 
 

Contra Costa Fire first responder times are measured by the fire district as the time from the station alert to the 
time on scene based on the location of the fire station. The Fire District overall response times for the affected 
communities during 2011 (prior to fire station closures), was between 5:08 and 7:48 minutes. 

911 Dispatch Call Processing
Public Safety Answering Point (PSAP) 

Primary 
PSAP 

Local Law PSAP: determines if the call is police, fire or medical 
and then transfers to fire‐medical dispatch 

15‐30 seconds 

Secondary 
PSAP 

Contra Costa Fire Dispatch: Performs Emergency Medical 
Dispatch screening to determine critical or non‐critical nature 
of the call and deploy appropriate resources. 

72 seconds  
90% of the time  
(2011 data) 

Ambulance 
Dispatch 

AMR Dispatch: Assigns ambulance resources to the call as 
needed. Computer aided dispatch systems are linked between 
Fire Medical and Ambulance Dispatch entities to enhance rapid 
EMS resource deployment  

 
15‐30 seconds 

Page 74 of 82



 

 

 

On January 15th Clayton Station 11 closed from 2pm to 8pm Monday through Saturday and the following 
units were assigned to respond under automatic/mutual aid as the closest resource: 

 Station 8 (Clayton Road): 3.3 miles away with a 6 minute travel time 
 Station 22 (Crystyl Ranch): 3.6 miles away with a 7 minute travel time 
 Station 51 (Marsh Creek) : 5 miles away with a 7 minute travel time 

Clayton is a community of approximately 10,987 residents, with an average of 525 EMS responses per 
year or 48 EMS calls per 1000 population.  The city averages to be approximately 1 EMS call per day 
throughout the year.  In 2011, 380 of Clayton’s 911 calls were code 3 (lights and sirens) responses with 
another 145 code 2 (non‐critical).   

Average AMR response time for the city of Clayton has been between 9 and 10 minutes.  In 2012 the 
average AMR response time for urban Clayton was 9:16 minutes.  Fortunately, only 7% (approximately 
36 calls per year) required critical transport (code 3 lights and sirens) to the hospital. 

After the Station 11’s partial closure Clayton’s monthly EMS call volume averaged 32 calls.  Fire first 
medical response times increased approximately 1‐2 minutes while ambulance service level improved  
1‐2 minutes compared to previous service levels.  Modifications to ambulance unit posting were 
implemented in response to fire station closures. In addition, partial staffing of Station 11 was 
implemented, reducing the community impact. However, interpretation of response data is limited due 
to the small call volume, location of the call, time of day and seasonal variations.  The EMS agency 
continues to monitor the fire and ambulance response times in all affected areas. 

The Community of Clayton 

Page 75 of 82



 

 

 

 

On January 15th Lafayette Station 16 was closed permanently and de‐staffed.  The following units were 
assigned to respond under automatic/mutual aid as the closest resource: 

 Station 43 (Charles Hill Road, Orinda) : 1.7 miles away with a 4 minute travel time 
 Station 15 (Mt. Diablo Blvd): 3 miles away with a 8 minute travel time 

Lafayette is a community of approximately 23,893 residents, with an average of 1325 EMS responses per 
year or 55 EMS calls per 1000 population.  The city averages to be approximately 4 EMS calls per day 
throughout the year.  In 2011, Lafayette had 947 code 3 (lights and sirens) EMS responses and 378 code 
2 (non‐critical) calls.   

Average AMR response time for the city of Lafayette over the last 10 years has been approximately 9 
minutes.  In 2012, the average AMR response time for urban Lafayette was 9:04 minutes.  8% of total 
EMS calls require critical transport (code 3 lights and sirens) to the hospital. 

After Station 16’s closure, Lafayette’s monthly EMS call volume averaged 87 calls.  Fire first medical 
response times and ambulance service levels remained relatively consistent to previous response times. 
Modifications to ambulance unit posting was implemented in the area. However, interpretation of 
response data is limited due to the call volume, location of the call, time of day and seasonal variations.  
The EMS agency continues to monitor the fire and ambulance response times in all affected areas. 

The Community of Lafayette

Page 76 of 82



 

 

 

On January 15th Martinez Station 12 was closed.  The following units were assigned to respond under 
automatic/mutual aid as the closest resource: 

 Station 14 (Jones Street) : 1.1 miles away with a 4 minute travel time 
 Station 13 (Church Street): 2.3 miles away with a 7 minute travel time 
 Station 9 (Center Street): 4 miles with a 9 minute travel time 

Martinez is a community of approximately 35,424 residents, with an average of 3,589 EMS responses 
per year or 101 annual EMS calls per 1000 population.  The city averages approximately 10 EMS calls per 
day throughout the year.  In 2011, Martinez had 2,587 code 3 (lights and sirens) EMS responses and 
1,002 code 2 (non‐critical) responses.   

Average AMR response time for the city of Martinez over the last 10 years has been approximately 7 ½ 
minutes.  In 2012, the average AMR response time for urban Martinez was 8:34 minutes.  Only 9% of 
total EMS calls in Martinez require critical transport (code 3 lights and sirens) to the hospital. 

After the Station 12’s closure, Martinez’s monthly EMS call volume averaged 235 calls.  Fire first medical 
response times and ambulance service levels remained relatively consistent with previous response 
periods. Reduced deployment of fire resources to medical facilities for non‐critical patients was 
successfully implemented preserving fire first medical response for the general community.  Out‐patient 
medical facilities including County clinics, Kaiser and Veterans Administration sites now receive 
ambulance‐only responses in the vast majority of cases.  Interpretation of response data is limited due 
to call volume, location of the call, time of day and seasonal variations.  The EMS agency continues to 
monitor the fire and ambulance response times in all affected areas. 

The Community of Martinez

Page 77 of 82



 

 

 

On January 15th Walnut Creek’s Station 4 was closed.  The following units were assigned to respond 
under automatic/mutual aid as the closest resource: 

 Station 32 (Civic Drive): 4.2 miles away with a 6.16 minute travel time 
 Station 1 (Stone Valley Road): 2.3 miles away with a 8 minute travel time 

Walnut Creek is a community of approximately 64,173 residents, with an average of 7,722 EMS 
responses per year or 120 annual EMS calls per 1000 population.  The city averages approximately 21 
EMS calls per day throughout the year.  In 2011, Walnut Creek had 5,861 code 3 (lights and sirens) EMS 
responses and 1,861 code 2 (non‐critical) responses.   

Average AMR response time for the city of Walnut Creek over the last 10 years has been between 7 to 8 
minutes.  In 2012, the average AMR response time for urban Walnut Creek was 7:58 minutes.  Only 7% 
of total EMS calls require critical transport (code 3 lights and sirens) to the hospital. 

After the Station 4’s closure Walnut Creek’s monthly EMS call volume averaged 516 calls.  Fire average 
first medical response times and ambulance service levels remain consistent with previous response 
periods. However interpretation of response data is limited due to factors including call volume, location 
of the call, time of day and seasonal variations.  The EMS agency continues to monitor the fire and 
ambulance response times in all affected areas. 

 

   

The Community of Walnut Creek

Page 78 of 82



 

 

EMS Response and Call Disposition by City 
 

City  Total 
EMS 
Calls 3 

 

Ambulance 
Determined 
Not Needed 

Cancelled Prior 
to Arrival 

Ambulance 
Determined  
Not Needed 
Cancelled  
On‐scene 

Patient 
Transported 

Code 3 
(Critical patient) 

Patient 
Transported 

Code 2 
(Stable patient) 

Clayton (Urban)  311  6%  12%  11%  71% 
Lafayette  904  8%  13%  8%  71% 
Martinez  2354  6%  14%  9%  71% 
Walnut Creek  5413  5%  13%  7%  75% 

 

Although 90% of Contra Costa’s EMS 9‐1‐1 calls are dispatched Code 3 (lights and sirens) only 7‐11 % of 
9‐1‐1 calls result in Code 3 transports (critical).  These demographics are generally true for every 
community in Contra Costa.  The vast majority of critical (Code 3) transports are due to critical trauma 
associated with vehicular accidents and lifestyle influenced health conditions such as heart disease, 
stroke and diabetes.   

 

Contra Costa EMS has participated in the National Cardiac Arrest Registry to Enhance Survival (CARES) 
since 2009 and has extensive data on the countywide EMS cardiac arrest population.  This data shows 
that 1% percent of County 9‐1‐1 calls are due to cardiac arrest and that cardiac arrest survival 
consistently demonstrates that immediate “bystander” response is the single most important factor to 
assure meaningful survival.  These “bystanders” include anyone who knows CPR and how to use an 
Automatic External Defibrillator (AED).  In these cases prompt bystander CPR and public access 
defibrillation until EMS medical first response personnel arrive provides the best chance of survival with 
a good neurological outcome.  

 

Deployment Modifications to Preserve Fire All Hazards Resources 

The Contra Costa EMS agency has used ambulance‐only deployment for selected medical facilities over 
the years to “preserve” fire all hazards resources.  Medical facilities typically have trained physicians and 
nurses on site who can effectively serve as first responders if 9‐1‐1 services are needed.  The exception 
to this is for cardiac arrest when all resources are deployed.   

 

This approach has been welcomed by both the medical facilities and fire districts and is known to 
significantly support preserving fire first medical response for the more critical cases.  The strategy was 
used in East County during their fire station closures and reduced fire first medical response 
requirements to medical facilities from 88% to 6% between 2012 and 2013.   

 
                                                            
3 Data represent EMS call disposition of 911 Code 3 ambulance responses by city from January 1, 2012 through November 30, 
2012.  SOURCE: AMR MCIS/CAD 

 

 

Page 79 of 82



 

 

When Contra Costa Fire Station 12 in Martinez closed it was noted that the vast majority of calls for that 
station responded to the surrounding medical facilities.  Ambulance only deployment was implemented 
at three carefully selected medical facilities: 2500 Alhambra (Contra Costa Regional Medical Center 
Clinics), 200 Muir Road (Kaiser) and 150 Muir Road (Veterans). The deployment change indicates that 
fire first response was substantially preserved to respond to the more critical EMS calls. Overall the 
difference in Martinez is around 10 fewer fire responses per month.   

 

 
  

Additional preservation of fire first medical response can be accomplished using the existing structure of 
tiered dispatch.  Responses to nursing homes, clinics, or other facilities that are staffed by qualified 
medical personnel could be limited to only the most critical situations, such as cardiac arrest, because 
personnel at those facilities are capable of managing medical care prior to EMS arrival.  The EMS Agency 
is reviewing all EMS dispatch protocols in collaboration with Contra Costa Fire to determine which non‐
critical calls could also be managed by ambulance‐only responses. 

 

Partnering with Hospitals to Rapidly Return Ambulance Units to Service 

Timely ambulance return to service after patient transport is one of the most significant ways to 
improve ambulance availability.  Nationwide, patients arriving by 9‐1‐1 ambulance wait for a hospital 
bed much longer than they should.  Delays in patient handoffs are a known risk to patient safety, yet it is 
common for over 10% of patients (over 7,600 per year) to have handoff times in exceeding 30 minutes 
in Contra Costa.  In the most extreme circumstances patient handoff may take over one hour.  
Operationally this creates a “domino‐effect” where multiple ambulance units end up “waiting” to 
transfer their patients to emergency department staff.  This domino effect can occur numerous times a 
day throughout the county preventing valuable ambulance resources from returning to service. 

 

“It is the expectation of the Contra Costa EMS Agency that all hospitals will be ready to receive a 9‐1‐1 
transported patient upon ambulance arrival to support optimal utilization of EMS System assets.” 

 

Patient handoff of critical patients who arrive by 9‐1‐1 ambulance is known to be very prompt, however 
this is not always the case for stable 9‐1‐1 transported patients who make up 75‐83% of all EMS 
transports. Contra Costa EMS has been working in partnership with our community hospitals on timely 
patient handoff for over four years.  

 

 

Page 80 of 82



 

 

On January 3, 2013 the Contra Costa EMS Agency sent a letter to all Hospital Chief Executives, Chief 
Nursing Officers and Emergency Department Medical and Nurse Leadership informing them of the crisis 
of fire station closures.  In that letter the following requests were made: 

 
 Conduct 9‐1‐1 transported patient handoff as soon as possible upon ambulance arrival;  
 Be prepared to take appropriate measures to effectively manage Emergency Department 

saturation; and  
 Expedite patient handoff during peak periods when multiple 9‐1‐1 ambulances arrive.  

The EMS Agency is pleased to report that all Contra Costa community hospitals are actively partnering 
with the EMS community to reduce the incidence of long ambulance off‐load times.  

 

Summary and Key Findings 
 

Fire Station closures are known to impact rapid first medical response arrival.  While the EMS Agency 
is the authority for providing oversight of the EMS system, Fire Districts are responsible for determining 
what level of first medical response they are capable of providing. Contra Costa Fire agencies typically 
provide up to 80‐85% of EMS first medical response in their fire district response area.   

  

Communities with reduced fire services should expect delays in first medical response. When fire units 
are not available, the public will receive first medical response by 9‐1‐1 ambulance personnel.  
Ambulance response times will likely take a few extra minutes compared to the first medical response 
times delivered by local Fire stations.   

 

Ambulance service delivery, including response times, cannot be expected to duplicate the rapid 
response of community based fire first responders.  This is especially true in rural or less densely 
populated areas of the county where the need for ambulance service is infrequent.  In these 
circumstances, family members or bystanders may need to comfort the patient, provide first aid and be 
prepared to provide hands only CPR or use a public access defibrillator until help arrives.    

 

All Contra Costa dispatch agencies are able to give over‐the‐phone CPR instruction known as 
“dispatched aided CPR”.  Community law enforcement agencies who participate in the Public Safety 
AED Program can also support medical first response for cardiac arrest.   

 

Fire first medical response can be provided at the basic life support level with excellent outcomes.  
Over the last ten years, pre‐hospital studies have consistently demonstrated that the best patient care 
outcomes for critical patients depend on reliable basic life support and rapid first medical response.  
Contra Costa County is fortunate to have the robust advanced life support (paramedic) emergency 
service levels provided by the majority of fire agencies and the 9‐1‐1 contracted ambulance provider.   

 

After a careful review, the EMS Agency finds no clinical evidence that EMS patient care for Cardiac 
Arrest, Trauma, Stroke or Heart Attack has been compromised due to fire station closures. Determining 

Page 81 of 82



 

 

impacts to critical patients would require an extensive period of time since these patients represent 
such a small percentage of EMS calls.  For these critical cases, Contra Costa County EMS Patient Care 
Systems for Trauma, STEMI (high risk heart attack), Stroke and Cardiac Arrest are “protective.”  

 

Both local and national evidence demonstrate that the best patient outcomes are primarily tied to 
“early recognition” of a serious condition and “time to definitive care” rather than response times alone.  
Patient outcomes are known to be significantly improved when EMS is successful in transporting: 

 A critical trauma patient to the trauma center: “The Golden Hour”. 
 A heart attack patient to a cardiac center for intervention: “Time is Muscle”. 
 A stroke patient to a primary stroke center for treatment: “Time is Brain”. 

 

However it is also recognized by the EMS Agency that difficult to measure impacts such as patient 
inconvenience, delays in assessment of a medical condition, pain and discomfort are more likely to be 
affected.  Residents near a closed fire station will experience these impacts.  

 

It is known that in the case of cardiac arrest, rapid pre‐hospital advanced life support is vital to 
improving survival.  Cardiac arrest affects approximately 500‐600 individuals per year in Contra Costa 
and survival with good outcomes relies on prompt bystander basic life support supported by rapid pre‐
hospital advanced life support (ALS).  The Contra Costa cardiac arrest survival rate when prompt 
bystander CPR and rapid ALS is performed is 42.4%.4 

 

Contra Costa has a robust system of EMS care that is highly integrated to maximize efficiencies 
between bystanders, Fire‐EMS dispatch, fire and law enforcement first responders, 911 ambulance 
providers and our outstanding community hospitals.  The EMS agency would like to thank all 
stakeholders for their ongoing commitment and collaboration to support patient care.  The EMS agency 
depends on this strong network of experienced and skilled pre‐hospital and hospital providers to 
respond within their capabilities for the benefit of the patient and community. 

 

Communities should be aware that the EMS Agency is working with Fire‐EMS dispatch, fire district 
leadership, community hospitals and American Medical Response (AMR) to support prompt response 
and safe patient care at all times. In communities experiencing fire station closures the EMS Agency 
strongly encourages all individuals to learn early recognition of signs and symptoms of heart attack, 
stroke, and cardiac arrest in addition to basic first aid, CPR and how to use an AED.  For more 
information visit our website to learn more at www.cccems.org. 

 

“The Contra Costa Emergency Medical Services Agency provides oversight of the EMS system and 
supports the delivery of coordinated and high quality EMS services to the public.  EMS service delivery 

is a public private partnership between fire districts, ambulance providers and hospitals.” 
 

                                                            
4 From 1/1/2012‐12/31/2012  Contra Costa County  Cardiac Arrest Registry for Enhanced Survival (CARES) 

Page 82 of 82




